# UNIVERSITA' DEGLI STUDI DI TORINO

Dipartimento di Scienze Mediche



# DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN FISIOPATOLOGIA MEDICA

# CICLO XXXIV

# TESI DI DOTTORATO

Renal function reserve (RFR) in Living donor renal transplantation (LDRT) and phenotypic characterization of urinary extracellular vesicles (uEVs) pre and post nephrectomy

Guide:

Prof. Benedetta Bussolati

PhD Student:

Dr. Kumar Digvijay

Tutor:

Prof. Stefania Bruno

2018 - 2022



# To my teachers, parents and family!



## Contents

Ac	cknowledgements	1-2
Ab	ostract	3
1.	Introduction	4
	1.1. Kidneys	4
	1.2. Glomerular Filtration	6
	1.2.1. Autoregulation	7
	1.2.2. Clinical assessment of GFR	8
	1.2.3. Renal function markers and laboratory testing	12-15
	1.2.4. GFR estimates	15
	1.2.4.1. Cockcroft-Gault formula	16
	1.2.4.2. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD)	
	formula	16-17
	1.2.4.3. CKD-EPI equation	17
	1.2 Panal raple compart thorapy (PPT)	20
	1.3.1 Ponel transplantation	20
	1.3.1. Kenai transplattation	21-20
	(I KDs) to clinical practice	26_29
	1.3.3 Measurements and procedures post donation	20-27
	1.5.5. Weasurements and procedures post donation	.2)
	1.4. Renal function reserve (RFR) in living kidney donors (LKDs)	30-33
	1.4.1.1. Physiology of RFR	33-35
2.	Aim of the project	.37
3	Matarials and mathads	30
J.	3.1 Study design	39
	3.1.1. Subjects	9
		-

3.2. Sample size	40
3.3. Patients and methods	40
3.4. Measurements	41
3.5. Protein load	41
3.6. Urine collection	41
3.7. Urinary extra cellular vesicles (uEVs) characterisation	41
3.8. Study flow chart	46
3.9. Statistical analysis	47

4.	Results49
	4.1. RFR test
	4.2. Clinical characteristics and pre-nephrectomy RFR/Renal stress test (RST) in
	donors
	4.3. Urinary extracellular vesicles (uEVs) characterization60
	4.3.1. Phenotypic analysis of uEVs pre and post nephrectomy60-69
5.	Discussion70-73
6.	Conclusion75
7.	References

#### Acknowledgement

First and foremost I am grateful and thankful to my Mother and Father for their blessings and support towards completing my PhD.

I would also love to convey my sincere gratitude towards Prof. Benedetta Bussolati, supervisor for my study, along with Prof. Stefania Bruno, my tutor and Prof. Vincenzo Cantaluppi for giving me an opportunity to work under their supervision. Not only did they patiently provide the vision, encouragement and advice necessary for me to progress through the programme and complete my thesis, but also gave me strength and motivation during the uphill moments of this PhD. Their abilities to listen with patience, humility, and enthusiasm to name a few are qualities that are truly inspirational which make them ideal role models to have for a successful career in medicine and research. I truly would like to apologise for any inconvenience that I may have caused to them during my course.

I would also like to thank Dr. Gabriele Guglielmetti, Dr. Sharad Kholia and Dr. Maria Beatrice Sanchez Herrera for their expert guidance, advice and friendship that were essential towards the success of my research project. A most heartfelt thank to all the members of Lab 10/11 for their motivation and friendship without which, completing this PhD would have been impossible.

I would also like to extend my sincere gratitude towards my past mentors Prof. D.S.Rana, Prof. A.K.Bhalla, Prof.Ashwani Gupta, Prof. Sanjiv Jasuja and Prof. Claudio Ronco and all my teachers for their teachings and blessings throughout my life.

I would also like to extend my thanks to Dr.Vinant Bhargava, Dr.Anurag Gupta,Lakhvir Singh, Arminder Singh, Kalka Prasad Sharma, and Hamza Ahmad for their support during this journey of my PhD. My heartfelt gratitude to: my friend Ana Oancea, my parents, my sister Sujata, my brother Kumar Rannvijay and whole family members for their love, support and blessings which became my inspiration and driving force.

Thank you to Prof. Pasquale Esposito and Prof. Marco Fiorentino for accepting to review my thesis. Last but not least, I would like to apologise to and thank all those who I may have missed out but have played an important role in the successful completion of my PhD. Finally, I would like to thank Almighty God, my family and Italian friends.

Abstract

#### Background

In living donor renal transplantation pre operative donors renal function reserve (RFR) may correlate with post nephrectomy residual kidney function in donors. The aim of this study was to evaluate kidney donor (KD) renal function (RF) before nephrectomy and investigate the predictive performance of pre-donation RFR with protein load and to perform phenotypic analysis of uEVs pre and post 7 days of kidney donation.

#### Methods

Twenty eight living donors were considered for RFR test between February 2019-2021 in the Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Transplantation, Hospital Maggiore della Carita' di Novara, Italy. RFR was measured with a renal stress test (RST) before nephrectomy through an oral protein loading test (1 g/kg of body weight). For uEVs characterization first urine sample was collected pre nephrectomy. Second urine samples were collected post 7 days of nephrectomy. The expressions of uEVs were characterized by bead-based multiplex analysis by flow cytometry.

### Results

A significant increase in GFR pre transplant renal stress test (RST) was observed among donors post protein load (p=0.0001), with corresponding high RFR values; 29.5 (4.2-100) ml/m/1.73m<sup>2</sup>. CD133 and CD24 were detected in the majority of the donors after 7 days of nephrectomy.

#### Conclusion

Pre and post RFR along with pre and post uEVs assessment may represent a useful screening tool for LDRT. Post nephrectomy rise in the levels of CD133 and CD24 may reflect the involvement of progenitor cells providing regenerative renal potential.

**Chapter 1: Introduction** 

### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Kidneys

Kidneys are one of the most vital and complex organs in the body, performing crucial functions like, metabolic waste removal, elimination of foreign compounds, maintaining acid-base balance of the body, maintaining blood pressure, blood and interstitial electrolyte homeostasis, erythropoietin and bone mineral regulation [1].

These functions are carried out by a group of cells that form the structure of glomeruli and tubules of the nephron [2]. Apart from filtering, kidneys also produce certain chemicals and hormones, calcitriol, an active form of vitamin D that maintains calcium levels in the bones and keeps normal chemical balance in the body [3], rennin regulates blood pressure, and erythropoietin regulates the production of red blood cells, the kidneys also regulate several chemicals in the body like, calcium, Phosphorus, Sodium and Potassium levels [4] [5].

Human kidneys accommodate round about 1.0-1.2 million nephrons. A nephron is the primary unit of the kidney. It is consists of different subunits and includes the glomerulus, proximal tubule, loop of Henle, distal tubule and the collecting duct [6]. All subunits commit to the excretory role of the kidney in three steps:

- Glomerular filtration
- Tubular reabosorption and
- Tubular secretion [7].

On an average, the kidneys receive approximately 20% of the cardiac output. This computes around 1 L/minute and 600 ml of plasma. Throughout glomerular filtration, blood plasma is filtered in the glomerulus, a bunch of process capillaries bound by a membrane and specified epithelial cells that allow solute and waste, plus drugs and their metabolites, and water to pass across while ensuring larger substances, like blood cells, and proteins persist in the circulatory system [8].

Protein bound molecules, as well as drugs, are removed by proximal tubular secretion by a well harmonized function of uptake by the tubular cells at the blood-

facing basolateral site and excretion into the tubular lumen. Tubular reabsorption starts as soon as the filtrate gets inside the lumen of the proximal tubule, and involves the reabsorption of organic nutrients, such as hormonal-regulated reabsorption of ions coupled with passive water reabsorption and glucose [9]. Megalin and cubilin receptors at the apical membrane are accountable for endocytosis –mediated re-uptake of filtered low-molecular weight proteins, like  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin [10]. As the filtrate moves along the nephron, hydrogen ions, ammonia and some drugs are secreted into the collecting tubule [11].

The circulatory anatomy inside the kidney determines the final urine composition. First glomerular filtration rate (GFR) essentially influences the amount of solute and water that is excreted [12].

#### **1.2 Glomerular filtration**

The core function of the glomerulus is to perform as a filtration barrier that allows the passage of water and other solutes and restricts the movement of certain molecules. For example, filtration of water, sodium, urea, and creatinine are essential to proper toxin clearance, volume balance, and electrolyte homeostasis. The glomerular function guarantees that the vital plasma proteins are retained in blood and the filtrate is excreted out as urine. The fenestrated endothelium, glomerular basement membrane (GBM) and highly specified podocytes are the three main glomerular filtration assemblies [13].

An initial separation of ultrafiltrate from plasma takes place across the glomerular capillary wall into Bowman's space for urine production. Starling's forces are the major determinant of ultrafiltrate formation across the capillary wall [14]. These forces are proportional to glomerular permeability and the balance between hydraulic and oncotic pressure gradients. Hence, GFR can be explained by the following equations:

GFR= (capillary porosity X surface area) X ( $\Delta$  hydraulic pressure –  $\Delta$  oncotic pressure)

GFR= (capillary porosity X surface area) X ( $[P_{GC} - P_{Bs}] - S [\pi_p - \pi_{bs}]$ )

GFR= (capillary porosity X surface area) X ( $P_{GC} - P_{Bs} - \pi_p$ )

Where  $P_{GC}$  and  $P_{Bs}$  are hydraulic pressures in glomerular capillary and Bowman's space, respectively and s is the reflection coefficient of proteins across capillary wall (a measure of permeability) and  $\pi_p - \pi_{Bs}$  are the onctic pressure of plasma in glomerular capillaries and Bowman's space respectively. Since  $\pi_{Bs}$  is zero (because the filtrate must be protein free) and the capillary wall is completely permeable, thus making s=1, the last equation,

GFR= (capillary porosity X surface area) X ( $P_{GC} - P_{Bs} - \pi_p$ ), represents the formula for GFR. Normally, hydraulic pressure in the capillaries and Bowman's space persists constant whereas oncotic pressure in plasma rises dramatically with formation of a protein-free ultrafilrate. Hence, at some point across the capillary loop, the total filtration gradient becomes zero and filtration equilibrium occurs [15, 16].

Changes in renal plasma flow (RPF) can change the GFR. RPF plays a vital role in determining GFR in the presence of filtration equilibrium, as it impacts glomerular capillary oncotic pressure. Hence, an increase or fall of GFR is proportional to alterations in RPF [17].

#### **1.2.1** Autoregulation

RPF and GFR are maintained constant by autoregulation of the renal circulation and are depended on two mechanisms:

- a. The myogenic response (MR), and
- b. The tubuloglomerular feedback (TGF)

MR is a function of smooth muscle, which provokes vasoconstriction on an increase in arterial pressure, hence, permits autoregulation. On other hand TGF is a more complex process specific to the kidney that allows constriction of the afferent arteriole in response to a rise in sodium chloride concentration in the early distal tubule, which is a function of tubular flow rate [18]. As, autoregulation function decides the amount of pressure variations reaching the glomerulus, peritubular capillaries, and the medullary circulation, and so, it is vital for filtration, reabsorption, hypertensive renal damage and nutriuresis [19].

#### 1.2.2 Clinical assessment of GFR

For the management of patients with kidney disease measurement of GFR is an important tool. Functioning renal mass can be well determined by measuring total kidney GFR, which is the total of filtration rates of working nephron units. Regular GFR measurement leads to identify kidney disease, drug toxicity, improvement or progression of kidney function, initiation of renal replacement therapies (RRTs) when there is total shut down of renal function. To determine GFR accurately, the substance used a marker must be filtered freely by the glomerulus and should not be secreted, reabsorbed or metabolise by the kidney. GFR can be calculated by the following formula:

Where A is the substance that suits best as an ideal marker [20]. Inluin is one of the best markers for GFR, because of its feature, inulin clearance precisely reflects GFR. Though it is not used widely because it is administered intravenously and is more expensive [21].

Thus, other less expensive and representative markers is used to measure GFR and kidney function, such as creatinine, urea, Cystatin C, ß-trace protein, radioactive markers [22] and recently urinary extracellular vesicles [23].

#### A. Creatinine

It is the most common used marker, which is produced from the metabolism of skeletal muscle creatine. It is released into plasma at a stable rate in normal individuals and filtered freely at glomerulus. Unluckily, it enters urine through secretion by organic cation transporter in proximal tubule, overcapitalizing GFR by 10-20%. As kidney function drops or declines the rate of tubular creatinine secretion increases and in such condition creatinine clearance may overestimate true GFR [24].

Creatinine is generally used to monitor progression of kidney disease and function. The normal creatinine clearance (CrCl) ranges from 110-150 ml/m in male and 100-130 ml/m in female. The National kidney Disease Education Programme suggests calculating glomerular filtration rate (GFR) from serum creatinine (SrCr) concentration [25].

CrCl is calculated by the following formula that uses SrCr concentration and a 24-hour urine for Cr concentration and urine volume:

Where, Cr is creatinine, Cl is clearance, U is urine and SCr is serum creatinine [26].

#### B. Urea

Urea is the main nitrogenous end product of protein and amino acid catabolism, produced by liver and distributed throughout intracellular and extracellular fluid. In kidneys urea is filtered out of blood by glomerulli and is somewhat being reabsorbed with water [27]. The most specific clinical indicators for the estimation of kidney function are based on the serum urea concentration. It is useful in the differential diagnosis of acute renal failure (ARF) and pre-renal condition where the ratio of blood urea nitrogen to creatinine increases [28].

Urea clearance is a poor predictor of glomerular filtration rate (GFR) because the rate of overproduction depends on many other non-renal factors that include diet and urea cycle enzymes. Increased blood urea nitrogen (BUN) has been seen in association with kidney disease or failure, urinary tract obstruction due to kidney stones, congestive heart failure, dehydration, fever, shock, and gastrointestinal bleeding. High levels BUN can sometimes occur during late pregnancy or result from eating large amounts of protein-rich foods. If BUN is above 100 mg/dL, it indicates severe kidney damage, while decrease in BUN is observed during fluid excess. Low levels are also seen in trauma, surgery, opioids, malnutrition, and anabolic steroid use [29].

BUN is firmly related to kidney function and neurohormonal activation in heart failure (HF). It is filtered through the glomerulus, and urea is reabsorbed in the tubules. Subsequently, plasma BUN isn't just reliant upon GFR, yet, also on tubular function, and closely related to neurohormonal activity such as the renin-angitensin system (RAS) or renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) activity [30]. Urea is principally reabsorbed in the proximal tubules, but also more distally in the collecting ducts under stimulation of V2 receptors of vasopressin [31].

# C. Cystatin C

The Cystatin C is a non-glycosolated low molecular weight protein and protease inhibitor. It is used as a biomarker because it is produced by all nucleated cells at a constant amount and filtered freely through glomerulus and fully catabolised in the proximal tubules. GFR determines the concentration of serum Cystatin C making it as an endogenous marker for GFR [32]. Dharindharka *etal* found that Cystatin C was a superior than serum creatinine (SrCr) as a GFR marker [33]. It was found to be an efficient marker for GFR in patients with liver cirrhosis following transplantation [34, 35]. It has been also found to be more helpful in early detection of kidney dysfunction in both type 1 and 2 diabetic patients [36]. Eventually Cystatin C was found to be involved in mild early renal dysfunction in patients with increased risk of cardio vascular events, peripheral arterial disease and heart failure (HF) [37].

Furthermore, the CKD-EPI formula that includes SrCr and Cystatin C was shown to have greater accuracy and precision in finding GFR and hence is better than MDRD and Cockcroft-Gault calculators for GFR [38].

#### D. B-trace protein (BTP)

This protein has potential to meet criteria for use as a suitable biomarker of GFR, because it's filtered at glomerulus and then reabsorbed in proximal tubule or excreted in urine [39]. It has been reported to be a better indicator of reduced GFR upon comparison with serum creatinine (SCr) [40] [41]. Serum BTP has been reported to be elevated in patients with kidney diseases [42].

#### E. Radioactive markers

In recent years radioactive markers have been used as markers to estimate GFR. Some of the well known radioactive markers are 125 iodine (I)-iothalamate, 99 m Tc-DTPA (diethyl triamine penta acetic acid), 99 mTc mercapto acetyl triglycine and 51 Cr EDTA ethylenediamine terta acid.

Geeta Bajaj et al showed the efficiency of subcutaneous injection of renal 125 iodine (I)-iothalmate clearance is the simple and accurate test for measuring GFR in adults. The same author discovered renal clearance of 125 iodine (I)-iothalamate, simple and effective in healthy children and those with mild and advanced kidney disease [43]. In one of the study compairing Cystatin C and 125 iodine (I)-iothalamate clearance among hypertensive patients showed the mean extraction of Cystatin C was equal to the mean renal extraction of 125 iodine (I)-iothalamate, suggesting tubular excretion of Cystatin C [44]. It was possible to get an accurate determination of 51 Cr EDTA clearance from a single plasma sample in adults by using the mean sojourn time methodology has been shown to accurate for determination of 99 m Tc-DTPA single sample clearance [45]. 51 Cr EDTA-GFR is advisable in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) with suspected renal involvement when the serum creatinine concentration and creatinine clearance are normal [46]. Only limitation with this marker is that, it is overestimated in patients with severe oedema [47].

#### F. Urinary extracellular vesicles (UEVs)

Isolated from various types of body fluids, including urine, Cell-derived extracellular vesicles have achieved an important acceptance as potential diagnostic biomarkers in kidney disease as their cargo consists nucleic acids, proteins, and other cellular components, which likely reflect the physiological and possibly pathophysiological state of cells along the nephron. Research evidence suggests the practicality of utilising EVs as biomarkers for diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic purposes in different types of renal disease, such as acute kidney injury (AKI), glomerulonephritis (GN), and living donor renal transplantation (LDRT) [23].

EVs are secreted by most of the cell types of the kidney. Proteomic analysis of uEVs has established that proteins within the kidneys may arise from all segments of nephron, which includes proximal tubules, the thick ascending limb of Henle's Loop, the distal tubule, podocytes, and the collecting duct. Hence, exosomal proteins can be exploited as biomarkers for location-specific diseases [48].

uEVs may reduce the necessity for an invasive renal biopsy in glomerular disease. Specialized epithelial cells like podocytes which forms the glomerular filtration barrier with the glomerular basement membrane, are the main cell-types which are more affected in glomerular disease. Therefore, podocyte-derived EVs can be a possible index of glomerular injury. In a disease with significant podocyte damage known as focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS), transcriptional factor, which is needed for normal kidney development, i.e Wilm's tumor-1 (WT-1) was examined in urinary exosomes as a possible marker for podocyte damage. Expression of WT-1 was found to be increased in urinary exosomes resulting urinary albumin excretion by one week in a mouse model of collapsing glomerulopathy [40]. In addition, in human subjects with FSGS, exosomal WT-1 levels were remarkably elevated in children with active nephrotic syndrome (NS) caused by FSGS compared with healthy controls or patients with steroid-sensitive nephrotic syndrome (SSNS). Moreover, there was a significant fall in urinary exosomal WT-1 in patients with remission of SSNS following steroid treatment [49].

WT-1 expression in uEVs was also found to be higer in patients with diabetes, where, podocyte injury is an initial characteristic. Kalani *et al.* pointed WT-1 in urinary exosomes of diabetic patients, which correlated with declining renal function, highlighting exosomal WT-1 as a biomarker of podocyte injury in diabetic nephropathy (DN) [50].

EVs may play an important role in cilia biology and biomarkers for polycystic kidney disease (PKD), because cystin and ADP ribosylation-factor-like-6 are abnormally expressed in urinary EVs of patients with PKD [51].

#### 1.2.3 Renal function markers and laboratory testing

Renal dysfunction occurs in variety of diseases and conditions. Acute kidney injury (AKI) occurs due to trauma to the kidney like an accident or medical procedure including Intensive Care Unit (ICU) acute renal failure (ARF) [52]. Chronic kidney disease (CKD) results from another disease like hypertension (HTN), diabetes mellitus (DM) or from an inherited syndrome (Table 1.1) [53]. Early detection of any kind of renal dysfunction plays an important role in preventing further deterioration of renal function.

# A. Diagnosis

Indications for testing:

- Assess for any early renal abnormalities.
- Any risk for CKD
- B. Laboratory testing
  - Serum creatinine, BUN, and eGFR: use for initial diagnosis for AKI or CKD.
  - Urine protein/albumin: initial test for assessing kidney function.

Acute kidney injury (AKI)	Chronic kidney disease (CKD)	
Trauma	Hypertension (HTN)	
Sepsis	Diabetes Mellitus (DM)	
Blood loss	Polycystic kidney disease (PKD)	
Hypotension	Vascular disease	
Contrast induced	Nephrotoxic drugs	
	• Nonsteroidal anti-	
	inflammatory drugs	
	(NSAIDs)	
	Radio contrast.	

Table 1.1: Differential diagnosis of renal injury.

# C. Screening

eGFR and albumin/protein in patients with HTN, DM, cardiovascular disease (CVD) [54] [55].

# **D.** Pathophysiology

- Tubular proteinuria results when glomerular function is normal but the proximal tubules have diminished absorbing capacity [56].
- Established biomarkers of chronic tubular dysfunction acute and chronic
  - Glomerular filtration rate (GFR)/BUN/ serum creatinine provide estimates of renal function
    - BUN/creatinine biomarkers of protein metabolism
    - eGFR is best measure accounts for age, BMI, and sex
    - Useful in both acute and chronic renal failure
  - Albumin (urine)
    - Normally very little excreted by the kidney
    - Albuminuria 30-300 mg albumin/24 hours or 30 mg/g creatinine
    - Sensitive marker of glomerular disease in patients with diabetes, chronic kidney disease
    - Limited ability to predict disease progression
  - Cystatin-C (serum and urine)
    - Cysteine protease inhibitor is a marker of GFR
    - Not influenced by changes in muscle mass may make it a better marker than creatinine
    - Urine test measures proximal tubular injury
    - Affected by steroid use and thyroid dysfunction
  - Beta-2-microglobulins (urine)
    - Filtered freely in the glomerulus and nearly completely reabsorbed normally <1% appears in urine</li>
    - Occur during the course of advanced diabetic nephropathy
    - May be useful as a marker of progressing idiopathic membranous nephropathy
- > Alpha-1-microglobulins ( $\alpha_1$ -MG) (urine)

- Evaluates primarily proximal tubular region (may also be assessed by urinary retinol binding protein)
- Occur during the course of nephritis or advanced diabetic nephropathy
- Occur after heavy metal exposure or treatment with nephrotoxic medications.
- Occur in urinary tract infections (UTIs), where elevated α<sub>1</sub>-MG concentrations signal renal involvement
- May be a promising candidate as a biomarker of acute renal failure (ARF).
- > Alpha-2-macroglobulin ( $\alpha_2$ -MG) (serum)
  - One of a family of protease inhibitors that includes alpha-1-antitrypsin
  - α<sub>2</sub>-MG is a protease inhibitor capable of irreversibly binding, and therefore inhibiting, a wide variety of proteases, including plasmin, pepsin, trypsin, chymotrypsin and cathepsin-D
  - α<sub>2</sub>-MG molecule tends to remain intravascular due to its large size; levels increase during renal disease where smaller proteins are leaked into the urine
  - α<sub>2</sub>-MG is synthesized in the liver
- May also be increased in the following
  - Estrogen stimulation due to pregnancy, contraceptives
  - Nephrotic syndrome retained by damaged glomerular membranes because of its large size
  - Diabetes mellitus with renal disease
  - Hepatorenal syndrome
  - Interruption of blood/brain barrier; presence of α<sub>2</sub>-MG in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) [57] [58].

# **1.2.4 GFR estimates**

Different formulas have been used worldwide using SrCr concentration and other clinical and laboratory data to calculate more accurately estimate GFR (eGFR),

which includes the Cockcroft-Gault formula, Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) formula and CKD-EPI creatinine equation. These formulas use serum creatinine concentration, age, gender, race, and body size, and are considered to be better estimates of GFR than serum creatinine concentration alone [59].

#### 1.2.4.1 Cockcroft-Gault formula

The equation given below estimates creatinine clearance [60]:

females.

72X serum creatinine (mg/dL)

Although it gives an adequate estimate of GFR, the MDRD equations are more accurate.

#### 1.2.4.2 Modification of Diet in Renal Disease (MDRD) formula:

MDRD equation 7 is the most preferred formula but it needs serum blood urea nitrogen (BUN) and albumin concentrations. The MDRD formula is as follows:

170 X [SCr (mg/dL)]<sup>-0.99</sup> X [age (years)]<sup>-0.176</sup> X [0.762 if female] X [1.18 if African American] X [albumin (g/dL)]<sup>+0.318</sup>

An abbreviated form of the MDRD equation that doesn't require serum BUN or albumin concentration was also developed and is follows [61]:

This abbreviated form is reasonably accurate. The MDRD equation has been tested and developed in over more than 500 patients with a range of kidney diseases and ethnicities (Table 1.2) [62].

## 1.2.4.3 CKD-EPI equation:

Another equation for estimation of GFR is CKD-EPI creatinine equation (chronic kidney disease epidemiology collaborations).CKD-EPI equation is developed in 2009 by a research group established by National Institute of Diabetes, Digestive and Kidney Disease [63].

The CKD-EPI is a single expressed equation as follows:

 $eGFR=141X min (SCr/K,1)^{\alpha} X max (SCr/K,1)^{-1.209} X 0.993^{age} X 1.018[if female] X 1.159 [if African American]$ 

Where, K=0.7 for females and 0.9 for males,  $\alpha$  is -0.329 for females and -0.411 for males. Tables 1.3 show the CKD-EPI equations to be implemented in clinical laboratories [64].

Marker	Study	Characteristics	GFR	Equation	References
	year		measurements		
Creatinine	MDRD	N=1628, CKD	Urinary	б-	
	1999	mean	clearance of	variable	
		mGFR=40	iothalamate	MDRD	
				Study	
				equation	
				and 4-	6-variable: Levey et
				variable	al[63] (Annals, 1999);
				MDRD	4-variable: Levey et
				Study	al[65] (JASN abstract,
				equation	2000)
	MDRD	Same as above	Same as	6-	6-variable: Levey et
	2006		above	variable	al[63] (Annals, 1999);
				MDRD	4-variable: Levey et
				Study	al[65] (JASN abstract,
				equation	2000)

	and 4-	
	variable	
	MDRD	
	Study	
	equation	

Table 1.2: GFR estimating equations developed by MDRD study group.

Race	Sex	SCr	Equation
		(mg/dL)	
African	Female	<u>≤0.7</u>	$\mathbf{GFR} = 166$
American			$\times$ (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup>
			<sup>0.329</sup> ×
			(0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
		> 0.7	CED = 166
		> 0.7	GFR = 100
			$\times$ (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup>
			<sup>1.209</sup> ×
			(0.993) <sup>Age</sup>

	Male	<u>≤0.9</u>	GFR = 163
			$\times (Scr/0.9)^{-1}$
			0.411
			A go
			(0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
		> 0.9	
			GFR = 163
			$\times$ (Scr/0.9) <sup>-</sup>
			<sup>1.209</sup> ×
			$(0.993)^{Age}$
33.71 '4	<b>F</b> 1	< 0.7	<b>CED</b> 144
White or	Female	<u>≤ 0.7</u>	GFR = 144
White or Others	Female	<u>≤ 0.7</u>	$GFR = 144$ $\times (Scr/0.7)^{-1}$
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> 0.329 ×
White or Others	Female	<u>≤ 0.7</u>	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	<u>≤ 0.7</u>	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup> GFR = 144
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup> GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup> GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{1.209}$ ×
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup> GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{1.209}$ × (0.002) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup> $(0.993)^{Age}$ GFR = 144× (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{1.209}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{0.329}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup> $(0.993)^{Age}$ GFR = 144 × (Scr/0.7) <sup>-</sup> $^{1.209}$ × (0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	$GFR = 144 \\ \times (Scr/0.7)^{-} \\ (0.329 \times (0.993)^{Age})^{Age}$ $GFR = 144 \\ \times (Scr/0.7)^{-} \\ \frac{1.209}{\times} \\ (0.993)^{Age}$
White or Others	Female	≤ 0.7 > 0.7	$GFR = 144 \\ \times (Scr/0.7)^{-0.329} \\ \times \\ (0.993)^{Age}$ $GFR = 144 \\ \times (Scr/0.7)^{-1.209} \\ \times \\ (0.993)^{Age}$

Male	<u>≤0.9</u>	GFR = 141
		$\times$ (Scr/0.9) <sup>-</sup>
		<sup>0.411</sup> ×
		(0.993) <sup>Age</sup>
	> 0.9	GFR = 141
		$\times$ (Scr/0.9) <sup>-</sup>
		1.209 ×
		(0 993) <sup>Age</sup>
		(0.773)

Table 1.3 CKD-EPI for estimating GFR.

# 1.3 Renal replacement therapy (RRT)

Renal replacement therapy (RRT) restores the normal blood filtering function of the kidneys and is used when kidneys stop functioning which is known as renal or kidney failure, which includes acute kidney injury (AKI) and chronic kidney disease (CKD). RRT comprises of various ways of blood filtration such as dialysis (hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis), hemofiltration and hemodiafiltration [66].

Hemodialysis (HD), hemofiltration (HF), and hemodiafiltration (HDF) can be continuous or intermittent and can use an arteriovenous route or a venovenous route [67].

It also includes renal transplantation which is an ultimate type of replacement where old kidney is replaced by donor kidney (living kidney or deceased kidney) [68].

#### **1.3.1 Renal transplantation**

Dr. Joseph Murray in 1954 conducted first successfully kidney transplantation. Since then there have been vital evolution in the field of transplantation and immunology, allowing an extensive selection of acceptable donors and recipients [69]. Kidney transplantation is done to improve and prolong the lives of patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Open and laparoscopic surgery is the two methods for both procurement and transplantation [70]. It is often the best treatment available for ESRD [71]. Patients with ESRD have better long-term survival than those who stay on dialysis. Moreover those who undergo transplantation have better quality of life and graft estimated survival of over 10 years among those who stay on dialysis [72].

The prevalence of ESRD is rising worldwide very rapidly. The most common cause of ESRD is hypertension (HTN) and diabetes. Other causes of ESRD/CKD are glomerular disease, tubulointerstital disease [73]. Patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) stage 4 and glomerular filtration rate (GFR) less than 30 mL/min/1.73 m, must be educated about kidney failure and RRTs, including transplantation [74].

#### A. Contradictions for kidney transplantation

Inability to tolerate surgery due to severe cardiac or pulmonary diseases, active malignancy, active infection, active drug abuse, and uncontrolled psychiatric diseases are absolute contradictions for kidney transplantation [71]. Relative contraindications varies and may be different depending on the institution and geographic region: morbid obesity with a recommended body mass index (BMI) less than 40 kg/m, history of noncompliance with medication regimen or dialysis schedule , frailty, psychiatric problems, and limited life expectancy (defined as less than the anticipated waiting time for a kidney) [75].

#### **B.** Preparations for kidney transplantation

#### I. Recipient selection

Most End Stage Renal Disease (ESRD) patients have multiple co-morbidities and complications due to kidney disease. And therefore they are screened for their ability to tolerate surgery and subsequent immunosupression which goes hand to hand with transplant surgery [71]. Summary of evaluation of co-morbid conditions in transplant recipients are described below:

- Cardiovascular disease: one of the leading causes of death post kidney transplantation is cardiovascular disease [76]. Therefore ESRD patients need to be carefully evaluated for cardiovascular disease. Non-invasive procedures can be implied for testing those with high risk or symptoms. For example, a dobutamine stress echocardiogram has been proved to have superior accuracy for predicting preoperative cardiac events [77]. Therefore, patients should undergo cardiac revascularization before kidney transplantation if tested positive.
- Cerebrovascular disease: A patient should be evaluated for carotid artery disease with history of a cerebrovascular accident, including transient ischemic injury [78]. Also any history of polycystic kidney disease (PKD) warrants a magnetic resonance angiogram for screening aneurysms [79]. Duplex Ultrasound (duplex USG) and computed tomography angiography (CTA) are advisable in case of abnormalities in peripheral pulse examination, suggestive of peripheral vascular disease (PVD) and vascular surgery to be considered before kidney transplantation [80].
- Gastrointestinal disease: Any transplant recipient with personal or family history of colon cancer or above the age of 50 years should have screening colonoscopy as per USPSTF recommendations [81]. Any recipient with history or active chronic liver disease (CLD) or viral hepatitis must consult hepatologist for possible consideration of Liver-Kidney transplant.
- Haematological disorder: Transplant recipients with a history of thrombosis should be evaluated for hypercoagulable disorder which may require treatment with anticoagulants [82]. Those with diathesis, full panel of coagulation should be done.
- Infections: Active infection is an absolute contradiction to a kidney transplant. It is recommended to send a serology panel to test for viral infections, tuberculosis, etc. Vaccination should also be up to date.

- Malignancy: Depending on the type of cancers, most transplant centre requires 2-5 years of cancer free period. It is required to minimise the post transplant recurrence or metastasis potentiated by immunosuppressive therapy [83].
- Pulmonary disease: Pulmonary function test and an echocardiogram to be performed to rule out possibilities of pulmonary hypertension in patients who have been on dialysis for long time, those with heart dysfunction, known case of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), extensive use of tobacco, history of sleep apnea [84]. Those with pulmonary HTN, preoperative treatments with vasodilators are recommended before transplantation, along with pulmonary clearance.
- Frailty: Short physical performance with an objective score is performed to check the recipients' fitness for transplant. This frailty criteria domain includes self-reported exhaustion, weakness, slow walking speed, low physical activity and unintentional weight loss. These scales are especially useful in the elderly demographic, in particular with recipients above the 60 years of age [85].

#### II. Donor Selection

There are two types of donors:

- a. Deceased donors
- b. Living donors and
- Deceased donors: They are of two types, Brain dead donors (BDD) and those who donate after cardiac death (DCD). BDDs are those who fulfil the criteria of brain death testing. DCD are those who do not fulfil the criteria of brain death, but are those who are unlikely to experience meaningful neurologic recovery [86]. In case of DCD procurement cannot be initiated until heart has stopped beating and an independent physician pronounces the patients following terminal extubation. United Network for Organ Sharing (UNOS) stratified guidelines for deceased donors for organ quality. Thus, deceased donors need to meet standard

criteria (SCD) or otherwise, it will fall into umbrella for extended criteria donation (ECD). ECD kidneys are linked with shortened graft survival secondary to donor risk factors: over 60 years of age, or those between 50-59 years with a history of HTN, creatinine concentration above 1.5 mg/dL, or cerebrovascular cause of death [87].

In 2004 SCD and ECD classifications were replaced by the kidney donor profile index (KDPI), a more objective graft quality measure. It is derived from the kidney donor risk index (KDRI), the percentage of donors in a reference population defined by the Organ procurement and transplantation network (OPTN). Factors used on determination of KDPI are, donor age, height, weight, HCV status and DCD status [88]. Multiple studies has proved that kidney transplantation based on high-KDPI kidneys is still linked low morbidity rate and improvement in life expectancy and is a cost-saving treatment plan when compared with patients who carried on with maintenance dialysis [89].

 Living kidney donor (LKD): Living donor renal transplantation (LDRT) offers the best possibilities of graft and recipient survival, even in paired kidney exchange, which involves transport of the organ before implantation [90]. Eligibility criteria for LKDs are 18-70 years of age, no active infection, no active malignancy, and adequate renal function (~ GFR > 80). BMI more than 40 kg/m, diabetes, active malignancy, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) positivity, GFR less than 70 mL/min/1.72m, HTN requiring more than medication, albuminuria, horseshoe kidneys, and psychiatric disorders are main contraindications to LKDs [71].

#### C. Recent developments in living kidney donations

Living kidney transplantation is the best available treatment for patients with ESRD for various reasons including:

- i. Better long term graft survival
- ii. No need to wait for transplant on waiting list from deceased kidney transplant list.
- iii. Lower risk for graft rejection and delayed graft function (DGF) [91].

The living donor programme was expanded by new modes of living donation and extended by the living donor pool [91]. A well developed paired kidney donation is the fundamental element for creating a donor pool [92]. Paired kidney donation helps donation for non-compatible donor and recipient that would need desensitization [93]. Other possible approach to increase donor pool is ABO-incompatible transplantation [94].

It has been already described over the last decade about the long-term risk of kidney donation. Living donors believed to have a higher risk of developing ESRD, especially in obese donors and also for African Americans with an apolipoprotein L1 (APOL1) high-risk genotype. African Americans with high risk APOL1 was found to have an almost three times more accelerated fall in eGFR [95]. Hence researchers need to focus on unaddressed concerns of living related renal transplantation (LDRT) and with respect to living donors.

#### **D.** Procedure of kidney transplantation (Technique ):

Kidney transplant surgery always consists of two surgeries, the donor and the recipient. Procedure of the surgery can be performed in a minimally invasive fashion or via open surgery for the living donor. Implantation of the kidney is done in an open fashion, where the organ is placed heterotopically in the pelvis, anastomosing the vessels to the external iliac vessels and the ureter to the bladder. The iliac vessels are preferentially exposed retroperitoneally as the peritoneum is retracted medially. Intra-peritoneal placement is also acceptable.

In the open surgical technique for living donor procurement, a subcostal incision is made, and the retroperitoneal space is exposed. The ureter is followed down to the iliac vessels and ultimately divided there before extraction. The kidney is isolated on its vascular pedicle, and once the recipient team is ready, the renal artery and vein are transected, and the organ is delivered to the back-bench. The tributary stumps are then ligated or oversewn. Any residual perinephric fat is pruned as the kidney is prepared for implantation [71]. Figure 1.4 describes the process of kidney transplantation diagrammatically.



#### Figure 1.3:

- A. Donor kidney obtained from living donor.
- B. Under the general anaesthesia, an incision or cut is made in the lower right quadrant of the abdomen. The donor kidney is implanted into the lower pelvis of the recipient.
- C. The new kidney is sutured into place. The vessels of the new kidney are connected to the vessels leading to the right leg (the iliac vessels) and the ureter is sutured to the bladder.
- D. Transplanted kidney.

Images adapted from <u>Kidney transplant series</u>—Incision: Medline plus Medical Encyclopaedia.

# **1.3.2 KDIGO guidelines for the evaluation and care of living kidney donors** (LKDs) to clinical practice

In 2017 Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO), a global non-profit organisation dedicated for developing, improving and implementing evidence based clinical practice guidelines in kidney disease published the first "Clinical Practice Guidelines on the Evaluation and Care of Living Kidney Donors (LKDs)", which includes donors evaluation and care before, during and after donation in organised 19 chapters [96]. Table 1.4 briefs the items for the evaluation, care and follow-up of the LKDs described in the chapters 1-19 of the KDIGO guidelines.

Chapter	Торіс	Checklist Item
1	Evaluation goals,	Provide the donor candidate
	decision-making	individualized estimates of short- and
	framework, roles	long-term risks
	and	• Evaluate medical risks with respect to
	responsibilities	predetermined transplant program
		acceptance threshold
2	Informed consent	• Obtain consent from the donor candidate for
		evaluation and donation
3	Compatibility	Determine ABO blood type and human
	testing,	leukocyte antigen compatibility
	incompatible	• Inform incompatible donors about exchange
	transplantation,	programs and incompatible living donor
	paired donation	transplantation options
4	Preoperative	Conduct a preoperative assessment as per
	evaluation and	local guidelines to minimize risk
	management	
5	Predonation	• Estimate GFR using serum creatinine-based
	kidney function	estimating equations and confirm with one or
		more of the following according to
		availability: measured GFR using an
		exogenous filtration marker, measured
		creatinine clearance, eGFR from the
		combination of serum creatinine and cystatin
		C, or repeat eGFR with serum creatinine
6	Pre-donation	• Assess albuminuria using albumin-to-
	albuminuria	creatinine ratio in an untimed urine specimen

		and confirm albuminuria with albumin
		excretion rate in a timed urine specimen or
		by repeating albumin-to-creatinine ratio if
		albumin excretion rate cannot be obtained
7	Pre-donation	• Perform testing to identify cause of
	hematuria	microscopic hematuria that is not reversible
8	Kidney stones	Assess history and kidney imaging for
		nephrolithiasis
9	Hyperuricemia,	• Assess history of gout
	gout, and mineral	
	and bone disease	
10	Predonation BP	• Measure BP prior to donation on at least two
		occasions
11	Predonation	• Assess metabolic and lifestyle risk for CKD
	metabolic and	and/or cardiovascular disease by obtaining
	lifestyle factors	the following prior to donation:
		• Body mass index measurement
		• History of diabetes mellitus and
		gestational diabetes and family history of
		diabetes
		• Fasting blood glucose and/or glycated
		hemoglobin (hemoglobin A <sub>1c</sub> )
		• Fasting lipid profile, including total
		cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, HDL-
		cholesterol, and triglycerides
		• Present and past use of tobacco products
12	Preventing	• Screen for the following infections before
	infection	donation:
	transmission	✓ HIV
		✓ Hepatitis B virus
		✓ Hepatitis C virus

		<ul> <li>✓ Cytomegalovirus</li> </ul>
		✓ Epstein–Barr virus
		✓ Treponema pallidum (syphilis)
		$\checkmark \qquad \text{Urinary tract infection}$
		$\checkmark$ Other potential infections on the basis of
		geography and environmental exposures
13	Cancer screening	Perform cancer screening as per local
		guidelines
14	Evaluation of	Assess family history of kidney disease
	genetic kidney	
	disease	
15	Pregnancy	• Confirm a negative quantitative human
		chorionic gonadotropin pregnancy test
		immediately before donation in women of
		childbearing potential
16	Psychosocial	Perform face-to-face psychosocial
	evaluation	evaluation, education, and planning session
		with one or more trained, experienced health
		professionals
17	Acceptable	• Select optimal surgical technique by an
	surgical	experienced surgeon
	approaches for	
	donor	
	nephrectomy	
18	Ethical, legal, and	• Respect donor autonomy during all phases of
	policy	evaluation and donation
	considerations	
19	Postdonation	Perform annual postdonation follow-up care
	follow-up care	that includes the following:
		• BP measurement
		Body mass index measurement
1		

	• Serum creatinine measurement with GFR
	estimation
	Albuminuria measurement
	• Review and promotion of healthy lifestyle
	practices, including exercise, diet, and
	abstinence from tobacco
	• Review and support of psychologic health
	and well-being

Table 1.4: Checklists for the evaluation, care and follow-up of the LKDs [97].

KDIGO guidelines also discusses about assessment of pre-donation GFR as kidney function and the use of GFR as risk estimation (Chapter 5) (Figure 1.4) [97].

# **1.3.3** Measurements and procedures post donation

The following measures and procedures should be done at least once or twice post donation:

- i. Blood pressure (BP), Body Mass Index (BMI), Serum Creatinine (SCr), eGFR, albuminuria, healthy life style including physical activities, etc.
- Donors should be monitored for CKD and those who meet the criteria for CKD must be managed according to 2012 KDIGO CKD guidelines [98].


Figure 1.4: Stepwise approach to estimate GFR in kidney donor selection.

#### 1.4 Renal function reserve (RFR) in living kidney donors (LKDs)

Kidney transplantation grants a quality and survival of life compared with dialysis and is more cost-effective over the long-term [99]. Living kidney donation gives a vital source of organs given the shortage of deceased kidneys.

Studies on short and long-term outcomes on living kidney donors (LKDs), has led to the inclusion of more border-line donors like, older age, controlled hypertension (HTN), BMI up to 35 and low grade proteinurea [100]. The final call of the transplant nephrologist in living kidney selection is still depends on eGFR, which is, however, not an ideal method to determine

actual renal function providing the known factors affecting its accuracy, for example, age, sex, physical activity, BMI, protein intake, etc [101]. Recent studies have shown poorer long –term outcomes in certain donor populations, such as those in African American origin, obese donors [102][103][104]. Generally all living donors are well screened pre donation; routine clinical findings (blood pressure, urine routine, renal function, BMI) have not been robust predictors to long- term risk in such donor population [104]. Final call for kidney acceptance however still highly relays on GFR, which may be influenced by multiple non-renal factors (age, sex, physical activity, protein intake, etc), which when estimated leads to underestimated measured GFR in LKDs [105] [106].

After nephrectomy, the single kidney increases its function approximately by 35% [104] [107] [108]. The ability of a kidney to increase its GFR on higher functional demand is termed as renal function reserve (RFR) [109]. Studies done on 11 of 12 nephrectomies in rats showed that hyperfiltration due to glomerular hypertension resulted in progressive renal failure [110] [111]. How accurate these data are in the case of a 50% loss of nephron mass in healthy kidney donors is not clear given the general long-term safety of living kidney donors.

As serum creatinine (SrCr) gives an estimate of how accurate kidney is working, but in the absence any measurement or estimate GFR, it is difficult to predict what is happening to the kidney after clinical insults, such as infections, exposure to nephrotoxic drugs and autoimmune complex depositions. The serum creatinine (SrCr) concentration can't sensitively detect alterations in kidney function [112] [113] [114]. In a person who is at risk to develop kidney insult, current serum creatinine (SrCr) concentrations, especially near normal, can't predict who will develop kidney injury. The baseline GFR may not reflect the full functional and anatomical features, including reserve in the kidney [112] [115] [116] [117].

Since human kidneys don't always work at full capacity, thus the baseline GFR doesn't reflect full function of the kidney. Similarly, serum creatinine (SrCr) is not a sensitive measure for kidney injury or function. In healthy individuals the GFR physiologically increases in response to certain stress or stimuli, such as protein loading. Multiple studies have proved that an assortment of protein load can increase GFR, some studies have shown up to 62-81% increase in GFR [112] [118] [119].

Renal function reserve (RFR) is defined as the difference between the maximal GFR and the baseline GFR, which is generally calculated after an oral protein or intravenous (IV) amino acid loading [112] [119] [120] [121]. The absence of a normal RFR can be helpful to identify patients who are more susceptible to kidney injury [115].

The RFR plays a sensitive method to detect sub-clinical kidney injury, and hence can be helpful to identify patients susceptible to kidney damage, as it provides more information about whole kidney function and remaining reserved function [115] [117] [120].

RFR or renal stress test is useful in determining and predicting the risk of developing kidney damage as it uncovers the loss of renal function mass when there is no evidence of clinical kidney damage [118].

#### 1.4.1Physiology of RFR

Oral protein intake or intravenous (IV) amino acid infusion increases GFR. This effect happens both in normal and impaired kidneys. An increase in GFR usually occurs in the first hour after protein loading, and the maximum effect occurs around 2-2.5 hours [112] [113] [116] [122]. GFR can be increased by an increase in renal plasma flow (RPF) or filtration fraction (FF).

#### GFR=FF X RPF

The increase in GFR after protein intake is due to increased RPF without a change in FF [115]. Three main mechanisms involved in an increased GFR [121]:

#### 1. Metabolic mechanisms

Metabolic mechanisms involve amino acid stimulation of other metabolic processes in the kidney that include tubular sodium reabsorption and thus increased oxygen consumption by the kidney [119] [121].

#### 2. Humoral factors

There are number of humoral factors involved in RFR. Endothelium derived relaxing factors, such as nitric oxide, prostaglandins and the rennin-angiotensin –aldosterone system (RAAS) can alter renal hemodynamics. Nitric oxide causes vasodilation and an increase in GFR.

Multiple studies also suggested that increased glucagon and amino acid levels increase renal plasma flow [113] [116] [118].

#### 3. Intrinsic renal mechanisms

Intrinsic mechanisms are usually involved in tubuloglomerular feedback; although these need an intact function of both tubules and glomeruli. After a protein load, there is an increase in tubular amino acid absorption. There is an increase in NaCl transport due to co-transportaion of amino acids in the proximal tubule with sodium. This results in decrease in sodium delivery to the distal tubule and macula densa which provides feedback to release prostaglandin and nitric oxide. All these events lead renal vasodilatation. GFR doesn't increase after protein loading in patients with proximal tubule dysfunction (Fanconi syndrome) or with macula densa dysfunction. This implies that prostaglandins and nitric oxide have vital roles in regulating GFR [119] [121].

Renal function reserve decreases in advanced chronic kidney disease (CKD). RFR was reported to fall in normal population from 23.4% to 6.7% in CKD stage IV [114] [123].

Donor nephrectomy is one of the best examples to understand how RFR responds to an acute loss of renal function. There is a 20-40% increase in GFR of a single kidney within days after nephrectomy. Increased renal blood flow and hyperfiltration are responsible behind this increase in GFR [124].

RFR can be used in identifying susceptible donors and recipients for post-operative kidney injury in living donor renal transplants (LDRTs) [125].

RFR can be easily utilised in clinical practice. It can be helpful in identifying patients who are susceptible to kidney injury and can guide nephrologists for adverse kidney outcomes in patients with low RFR. Though more studies on RFR is needed and might be easily introduced into clinical studies and trials.

Chapter 2: Aim of the project

#### 2.1 Aim of the project

Post neprectomy, living kidney donors (LKDs) develop a partial loss of kidney function, defined as acute kidney injury (AKI) as per KDIGO guidelines. The recovery following AKI is due to renal function reserve (RFR), which is described as the capacity of the kidney to increase glomerular filtration rate (GFR). Recent studies comparing living kidney donors (LKDs) with healthy controls show an increased risk of end stage renal failure (ESRD) in LKDs. This leads to have a greater interest in assessing the risk of LKDs. There are only few studies on RFR in kidney donors and correlation with renal function (RF) outcomes and identifying pre and post nephrectomy urinary extracellular vesicles (uEVs) biomarekers.

Hence the aim of the project was:

- To analyse kidney donor (KD) renal function (RF) pre nephrectomy and to investigate the predictive performance of pre-donation RFR with protein load.
- To analyse pre and post nephrectomy urinary extracellular vesicles (uEVs) and to investigate the predictive biomarkers in KDs post 7 days of nephrectomy.

Chapter3: Materials and methods

•

#### Materials and methods

#### 3.1 Study design

#### 3.1.1 Subjects

Living donor kidney transplantation in adult patients (defined as > 18 years of age) was performed in between February 2019 -2020 in the Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Transplantation, Hospital Maggiore della Carita' di Novara, Italy. In this study only living donors were enrolled for kidney/renal stress test before nephrectomy. It was a case controlled and single-centre study.

This study was performed according to the principles of Declaration of Helsinki [126]. The study was approved by the Institution Review Board (IRB) and ethics committee. All the patients were informed about the objectives of the study. An informed consent was taken from all the patients who underwent renal stress test.

#### **Inclusion Criteria:**

- i. Living kidney donors
- ii. Informed consent
- iii. Both genders
- iv. Donors above than 18 years old.

#### **Exclusion Criteria**

- i. HIV positive donors
- ii. Pregnancy
- iii. Acute systemic infections
- iv. Cirrhosis
- v. Active neoplasm
- vi. Haematological malignancy
- vii. Active autoimmune disease
- viii. Intestinal malabosprption

- ix. Chronic bowel disease
- x. Pancreatic insufficiency
- xi. Abnormal blood chemistry. Total cholesterol  $\ge 300 \text{ mg/dL}$ , Triglycerides  $\ge 400 \text{ mg/dL}$ , W.B.C count  $\le 300/ \mu l$ , platelets  $\le 75 \times 10^3 / \mu l$ , abnormal SrCr  $\ge 1.2 \text{ mg/dL}$ .
- xii. Denial of informed consent

#### 3.2 Sample size

From February 2019-2021, 28 prospective living kidney donors (LKDs) were enrolled for kidney stress test or renal stress test (RST) with protein load to assess their renal function reserve (RFR) two weeks before donation, respectively.

#### **3.3 Patients and methods**

Kidney donor evaluation in the Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Transplantation, Hospital Maggiore della Carita' di Novara, Italy:

Twenty eight enrolled kidney donors were evaluated before donation with,

- A. SrCr
- B. eGFR (CKD-EPI)
- C. Complete urine analysis (routine and microscopic)
- D. Cr clearance
- E. 24-hours urine protein (including albuminuria)
- F. Abdominal angio CT scan
- G. Radioisotopic GFR (rGFR)
- H. Renal Stress test (RST) or Renal Function Reserve (RFR) with protein load.

All the donors were on a standard diet. They avoided excessive intake of caffeine and high protein diets the day before the RST. None of the donors were using any drugs or medications that could modify renal blood flow and/or GFR (Angiotensin Converting Enzyme Inhibitors (ACE), Angiotensin Receptor Blockers (ARBs), diuretics, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and antibiotics). Eight hours of fasting or starvation was required to asses' kidney glomerular stress test or renal stress test (RST) after an adequate oral hydration (8 ml/kg body weight) Time 0 (T0) in 30 minutes and voiding of the bladder.

After that, the urine volume was replaced with equal volume of water by mouth (1 hour T1). Two measurements of 1-hour creatinine clearance (CrCl) were obtained in resting conditions and the mean value of them was considered the baseline (basal) (2 hours and 3 hours post T0). Then, an oral protein load (cooked red meat or protein shake) of 1.2 g of proteins /kg weight of the patient was given and eaten in 30 minutes. One hour CrCl was assessed in the following four hours (three determinations 1.5, 2.5 and 3.5 hours) after protein load.

The difference between the higher CrCl obtained after protein load and the baseline (basal) CrCl defined RFR. Blood samples for SrCr were collected at 30 minutes and 90 minutes after T0.

#### **3.4 Measurements**

Urinary creatinine (uCr) and serum creatinine (SrCr) was measured by enzymatic method with and automated analyser (Siemens ADVIA 1800, Simens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc, Japan/Canada).

CrCl was calculated and corrected for 1.73m<sup>2</sup> of body surface area (BSA) using Dubois method as follows:

CrCl = uCr (mg/dL) / SrCr (mg/dL) X urinary volume (ml/time in minute) 1.73/BSA (m<sup>2</sup>).

Two values of uCr and SrCr were obtained before the protein load and the mean value of CrCl obtained was considered as the baseline or basal GFR (bGFR). The maximum CrCl obtained after the protein load was considered as the stress GFR (sGFR). Glomerular RFR was defined as the difference between sGFR and bGFR.

RFR=CrCl Max post protein load-Mean basal CrCl.

#### 3.5 Protein load

Cooked red meat, 1.2 g of proteins/kg of body weight of the patients or protein shakes "Fresubin Protein Powder" 1.2 g of proteins /kg of body weight of the patients were administered for kidney stress test.

#### 3.6 Urine collection

First urine sample was collected pre-nephrectomy or donation. Second urine samples were collected post 7 days of nephrectomy or donation.

#### 3.7 Urinary extra cellular vesicles (uEVs) characterisation

Urinary extra-cellular vesicles (uEVs) were characterized by bead-based multiplex analysis by flow cytometry (MASCSPlex Exosome Kit, human, Miltenyi Biotec [127] [128]. All urinary samples were centrifuged at 3000g for 15 minutes and filtered through 0.22µM filter. One hundred and twenty micro liters of each urinary sample were loaded onto a 1.5 mL tube and 0.5  $\mu$ L of protease inhibitor (Sigma) were added. After, 15 µL of MACSPlex Exosome Capture Beads (containing 39 different antibody-coated bead subsets) were added to each tube and samples were incubated over night at room temperature using an orbital shaker. To wash the beads, 1 mL of MACSPLEX buffer (MPB) was added to each tube and washed at 3000 g for 5 minutes. For counterstaining of EVs bound by capture beads with detection antibodies, 5 µL of each APC-conjugated anti-CD9, anti-CD63, and anti-CD81 detection antibodies were added to each tube and then incubated on an orbital shaker for 1 hours at room temperature, protected from light. In this study, we mostly used a mixture of all three antibodies (pan tetraspanin) in order to cover most EVs being present in the samples. To wash the beads, 1 mL of MPB was added to each tube and washed at 3000 g for 5 minutes. This was followed by another washing step with 1 mL of MPB, incubation on an orbital shaker protected from light for 15 min at room temperature and then washed at 3000 g for 5 minutes. After washing, 1 mL of the supernatant was carefully aspirated, leaving about 150 µL in the tubes, ready to be acquired.

Flow cytometric analysis was performed, with a Cytoflex (Beckman Coulter, Brea CA, USA). Approximately 5000–8000 single bead events have been recorded per sample. Median fluorescence intensity (MFI) for all 39 capture bead subsets were

background corrected by subtracting respective MFI values from matched media controls that were treated exactly like EV-containing samples (buffer/medium + capture beads + antibodies). All bead populations can be identified and gated based on their respective fluorescence intensity according to manufacturer instructions.

EV-surfac	e marker description	Role
CD1c	APC cells surface glycoprotein	Antigen-presenting protein
CD2	T and NK cell surface antigen	Mediator of adhesion between T-cells and other cell types
CD3	T cells surface glycoprotein	Mediator of signal transduction
CD4	T cells transmembrane glycoprotein	Co-receptor for MHC class II molecule
CD8	T cells transmembrane glycoprotein	Co-receptor for MHC class I molecule
CD9	Tetraspanin super-family – EV-surface protein	Regulator of cell adhesion
CD11c	Integrin alpha-X	Receptor for fibrinogen
CD14	Monocyte differentiation antigen	Co-receptor for bacterial lipopolysaccharide
CD19	B-lymphocyte antigen	Co-receptor for the B-cell antigen receptor complex (BCR)
CD20	B-lymphocyte antigen	Regulation of cellular calcium influx necessary for the development, differentiation, and activation of B cells
CD24	Signal Transducer	Modulator of B-cell activation responses
CD25	Interleukin-2 receptor	Marker for immune cell activation

	subunit alpha		
CD29	Integrin beta-1	Extracellular matrix component	
CD31	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule	Regulator of leukocyte trans endothelial migration (TEM)	
CD40	Costimulatory surface molecule	Co-stimulator of T and B cells	
CD41b	Integrin alpha-IIb	Receptor for fibronectin, fibrinogen, plasminogen, prothrombin, thrombospondin and vitronectin	
CD42a	Platelet glycoprotein 9	Mediator of platelet adhesion to blood vessels	
CD44	Cell-surface receptor	Regulator of activation, recirculation and homing of T cells	
CD45	Receptor-type tyrosine- protein phosphatase C	Positive regulator of T-cell coactivation	
CD49e	Integrin alpha-5	Receptor for fibronectin and fibrinogen	
CD56	Neural Cell Adhesion Molecule 1	Cell adhesion molecule involved in neuron-neuron adhesion, neurite fasciculation, outgrowth of neurites	
CD62P	P-selectin	Mediator of interaction between activated endothelial cells or platelets with leukocytes	
CD63	Tetraspanin super-family – EV-surface protein	Modulator of signal transduction	
CD69	Early activation antigen	Signal transmitting receptor in lymphocytes, natural killer cells, and platelets	

CD81	Tetraspanin super-family – EV-surface protein	Modulator of signal transduction	
CD86	T-lymphocyte activation antigen	Co-stimulator of T cells proliferation and interleukin-2 production	
CD105	Endoglin	Vascular endothelium glycoprotein that regulates angiogenesis	
CD133/1	Prominin-1	Regulator of cell differentiation, proliferation and apoptosis	
CD142	Tissue factor	Coagulation regulator	
CD146	Melanoma Cell Adhesion Molecule	Cell adhesion molecule	
CD209	C-type lectin receptor	Pathogen-recognition receptor	
CD326	Epithelial cell adhesion molecule	Cell adhesion regulator	
HLA-1	Major Histocompatibility Complex class I	Immune response regulator	
HLA-DR	Major Histocompatibility Complex class II	Immune response regulator	
MCSP	Melanoma-associated Chondroitin Sulfate Proteoglycan	Regulator of cell proliferation and migration	
ROR1	Neurotrophic Tyrosine Kinase, receptor-related 1	Neurite growth modulation in central nervous system	
SSEA-4	Stage-Specific Embryonic Antigen-4	Marker of bone-marrow derived very small embryonic-like stem cells	

Table3.1 : List of 37 EV surface antigens

## 3.8 Study flow chart



#### 3.9 Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed by usingGraphPad Prism 6.0. Results are expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) or standard error of the mean (SEM) where indicated. Statistical analyses were performed by employing: student's t test, one way analyses of variance (ANOVA) or two-way ANOVA with a multi comparison test where appropriate. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Chapter 4 : Results

#### Results

#### 4.1 RFR test

Twenty eight kidney transplantation from living donors were performed between February 2019-2021 in the Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Transplantation, Hospital Maggiore della Carita' di Novara, Italy. Out of these one was excluded from the RFR test because of non evaluable data. The enrolment flow chart of pretransplant RFR test, mean baseline SrCr, mean baseline eGFR and mean RFRare shown in figure 4.1.



**Figure4.1:** Enrolment flowchart. Twenty eight living donor kidney transplantation was performed between 2019-2021 in the Department of Nephrology, Dialysis and Transplantation, Hospital Maggiore della Carita' di Novara, Italy.

Clinical characteristics of the living donor pre nephrectomy and renal function reserve are summarized in table 4.1 respectively.

Living donor parameters	Before Nephrectomy	
Age	Mean=52.75 Years	
	Median=53.5 (34-69) Years	
Female, N=18	64.28%	
Male, N=10	35.71%	
BMI, N=28	Mean=22.82 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	
	Median=22.7 (15.2-28.5) kg/m <sup>2</sup>	
Base line SrCr	Mean=0.71 mg/dl	
	Median=0.67 (0.49-1.11) mg/dl	
	Mean±SEM =0.71 ±0.02 mg/dl	
Base line CrCl	Mean=129.83ml/m	
	Median= 129.615(70.41-165.05) ml/m	
	Mean±SEM = 129.83 ±4.86 ml/m	
Base line eGFR	Mean=100.77 ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	
	Median=102.0 (70-124) ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	
	Mean $\pm$ SEM = 100.77 $\pm$ 2.61 ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	
sGFR	Mean= 158.44 ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	
	Median=160.7 (92.40-264.3)	
	$ml/m/1.73m^2$	
	Mean±SEM =158.44 ±6.66 ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	
RFR	Mean=29.28 ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	
	Median= 29.5 (4.2-100) ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>	
	Mean±SEM = 29.2856 ±4.046	
	$ml/m/1.73m^2$	

### Table 4.1: Demographics of living kidney donors

# 4.2 Clinical characteristics and pre-nephrectomy RFR/Renal stress test (RST) in donors

The median age of donors pre-nephrectomy was 53.5 (34-69years), with 64.28% of them being female and 35.71% male (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: Graph representing distribution of female and male donors.

The median baseline eGFR was 102.0 (70-124) ml/m/1.73m<sup>2</sup>, and sGFR was 160.7 (92.40-264.3) ml/m/1.73m<sup>2</sup> and were statistically significant (p= < 0.0001) figure 4.3. Basal creatinine clearance (CrCl) and stress GFR (sGFR) were significantly different (figure 4.4 and 4.5).

Median RFR was 29.5 (4.2-100) ml/m/1.73m<sup>2</sup>. The median base line SrCr was 0.67 (0.49-1.11) mg/dl, body mass index (BMI) was 22.7 (15.2-28.5) kg/m<sup>2</sup>, baseline CrCl was 129.615(70.41-165.05) ml/m. Demographics of living kidney donors are summarised in table 4.1.



Figure 4.3 : Graph representing baseline eGFR and sGFR post protein load among donors. Data in the graph are expressed in mean and standard deviation. Paired t-test (two-tailed), number of pairs 26 between eGFR and sGFR are significantly different (p= < 0.0001). Mean±SEM of eGFR was 100.77 ±2.61 ml/m/1.73m<sup>2</sup> (N=28) and Mean±SEM of sGFR was 158.44 ±6.66 ml/m/1.73m<sup>2</sup>(N=27) and are significantly correlated with correlation coefficient (r)= -0.05998.



Correlation between CrCl and sGFR



Figure 4.4: (A) Graph representing correlation between basal creatinine clearance (CrCl) and stress GFR (sGFR) expressed in ml/m. Data expressed in mean and standard deviation in the graph. Basal CrCl and sGFR was significantly different (p=0.0001).

(B) Correlation coefficient,r was 0.7590 and basal CrCl and sGFR was not significantly correlated to each other.

Post donor nephrectomy, all living donors had poor renal function, the median SrCr was 1.17 (1-1.5) mg/dl and renal recovery was observed after 7 days and the median SrCr was 0.66 (0.49-0.98) mg/dl (Figure 4.5). Median mGFR with 51Cr-EDTA of the right kidney post-nephrectomy was 100 (86-153) ml/m/1.73m<sup>2</sup> (Table 4.2).

	Post-nephrectomy(01 day)	Post-nephrectomy (7 <sup>th</sup> day)
SrCr	Mean= 1.17mg/dl Median= 1.06 (1-1.5) mg/dl Mean±SEM =1.17±0.19 mg/dl	Mean=0.70 mg/dl Median= 0.66 (0.49-0.98) mg/dl Mean±SEM =0.70 ±0.025 mg/dl
GFR		Mean=100.70 ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup> Median= 100 (86-153) ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup> Mean±SEM = 100.70 ±3.80 ml/m/1.73m <sup>2</sup>

**Table4.2:** Renal function of living donors post nephrectomy where SrCr is expressed in mg/dl and GFR in  $ml/m/1.73m^2$ .



Figure 4.5 : Graphical representation of kidney function test (SrCr) pre and post nephrectomy. X-axis represents SrCr (mg/dl) and Y-axis represents number of days (pre and post nephrectomy). Serum creatinine Pre, post 1 day and 7 day nephrectomy was statistically significant (p= < 0.0001).

Serum Creatinine pre and post 7 days of nephrectomy was not statistically significant (p=>0.9999) and indicating renal recovery post donation (figure 4.6).



Pre and Post-nephrectomy SrCr

Figure 4.6: Graph representing data in mean and standard deviation of serum creatinine pre and post 7 days of nephrectomy expressed in mg/dl. Paired t-test between pre and post nephrectomy SrCr was not significantly different (p=0.9999). Correlation between basal SrCr and SrCr post nephrectomy was significantly correlated to each other (correlation coefficient, r= -0.09633, p value (one tailed) = 0.3163.

The median eGFR before nephrectomy was 102.0 (70-124)  $ml/m/1.73m^2$  and median GFR post nephrectomy was 100 (86-153)  $ml/m/1.73m^2$ . Pre and post GFR was not significantly different (p=0.9254) (figure 4.7 and figure 4.8).



Figure 4.7 : Pre and post GFR expressed in  $ml/m/1.73m^2$  was not significantly different (p=0.9254).



Figure 4.8 : Radar chart for the GFR in donors pre and post nephrectomy. In blue eGFR of donors before nephrectomy and in red GFR of donors post nephrectomy.

Correlation between pre nephrectomy RFR and post nephrectomy GFR was positively significant (correlation coefficient, r=0.2245) (figure 4.9).



**Figure 4.9:** Graph representing correlation between pre nephrectomy RFR and post nephrectomy GFR, expressed in ml/m/ $1.73^2$ . RFR and post nephrectomy GFR was significantly different (p= <0.0001). Correlation coefficient, r was 0.2245, p-value (one tailed) was 0.1301, which shows RFR and GFR are significantly correlated.

#### 4.3 Urinary extracellular vesicles (uEVs) characterization

Urinary samples from all prospective donors (from 2019-2021) (pre Protein load/nephrectomy and post 7 days of nephrectomy) were subjected to EV characterization using MACSPlex exosome kit, human, Miltenyi Biotec (12, 13). Each uEV markers median intensity (MFI) was normalised to the mean MFI by subtracting the median intensity of control buffer obtained from the signal intensities of the respective beads for specific markers.

Each EV markers MFI was normalised to mean MFI for specific EV markers (CD9, CD63 and CD81) obtaining normalised MFI (nMFI). All analyses were based on nMFI values.

Seven days post nephrectomy, donors showed an increased number of uEVs and mean MFI of the exosomal markers (CD9/CD63/CD81) was significantly higher in donors post nephrectomy (p=0.0002) compared to donors pre-nephrectomy

(p=0.0300) (Figure 4.10). In particular, 22 out of 27 analysed donors showed an increase in the expression of exosomal marker CD63 and 14 patients showed an increase in the expression of exosomal marker CD9. The other exosomal marker CD81 (expressed in 06 patients) did not increase in the same manner (Figure 4.11).



**Figure 4.10:** Graph representing mean median fluorescence intensity (MFI) for CD9, CD63 and CD81 at MACSPlex exosome analysis/characterisation pre and post nephrectomy.



Figure 4.11: Graph representing post nephrectomy uEVs expression of exosomal markers (CD9, CD63 and CD81), 81.4 % of the donors showed an increase

expression of CD63, 51.85% expression of CD9 and 22.2% expression of CD81 respectively.

#### **4.3.1.** Phenotypic analysis of uEVs pre and post nephrectomy

Among the 37 EV surface markers, 34 were expressed in donors' pre nephrectomy (Figure 4.12, Table 4.3). In particular, we found the expression of:

- cell adhesion markers: CD41b by 11/27(40.74%), CD44 and CD29 by 09/27(33.33%), CD42 and CD326 by 08/27 (29.62%), Melanoma-associated chondrotin sulphate proteoglycan (MCSP) and CD49e by 07/27 (25.92%).

- immune and inflammatory markers: CD2 by 11/27(40.74%), CD20 by 10/27 (37.03%), CD56 by 09/27(33.33%), CD62p, CD11c and CD3 by 08/27(29.62%), CD105 and CD142 by 07/27 (25.92%), CD14, CD40 and CD8 by 06/27(22.22%), CD25 by 05/27(18.51%), CD209 and CD69 by 04/27(14.81%) and CD86 by 03/27(11.11%).

- endothelial cell markers: CD146 by 03/27(11.11%) and CD31 by 09/27(33.33%).

- T-cell related (CD4) by 09/27(33.33%), B-cell related (CD19) by 08/27(29.62%), leukocyte (CD45) by 11/27(40.74%) and antigen presenting cells (CD1c) by 08/27(29.62%).

- the molecules of major histocompatibility complex: HLA-1 by 10/27(37.03%) and HLA-DR by 16/27 (59.25%).

- the renal stem cell markers:CD133 by 20/27(74.07%) and CD24 by 18/27(66.66%).

- the stage specific embryonic antigen-4 (SSEA-4) by14/27(51.85%).

- the diagnostic tumor cell marker (ROR-1) by 08/27 (29.62%).

HLA-1 and SSEA-4. All of these markers had higher nMFI than the levels found after nephrectomy.

These markers were expressed at different levels. The most expressed markers were the cell adhesion molecules (CD41b, CD29, CD44, CD326), the immune and inflammatory cell markers (CD20, CD56, CD2, CD11c and CD105), HLA-DR,



HLA-1 and SSEA-4. All of these markers had higher nMFI than the levels found after nephrectomy.

**Figure 4.12:** Graph representing uEVs surface Ag expression in number of donors' pre nephrectomy (on y-axis) and CD markers (on x-axis).

Seven days after the nephrectomy 29 markers were expressed (Figure 4.13, Table 4.3):

In particular:

- cell adhesion markers: CD326 was expressed by 3/27(11.1%), CD29, CD49e and CD42 by 02/27(7.4%), CD41b and CD44 by 1/27(3.7%) donors;

- T-cell, B-cell and leukocyte markers: CD4 by 02/27(7.4%), CD19 by 01/27(3.7%), and CD45 by 04/27(14.8%)

- antigen presenting cells marker (CD1c) was expressed by 04/27(14.8%);

- immune and inflammatory cell markers: CD40, CD62p and CD14 were expressed by 07/27 (25.92%), CD11c and CD20 by 06/27 (22.2%), CD3, CD142, and CD2 by 05/27(18.51%), CD209 by 04/27(14.81%), CD8 and CD69 by 03/27(11.11%), CD105, CD25 and CD86 by 02/27 (7.40%) and CD56 by 01/27(3.70%).

- HLA-1 and HLA-DR respectively by 09/27(33.33%) and 13/27(48.14%).



**Figure 4.13:** Graph representing uEVs surface Ag expression in number of donors post nephrectomy (on y-axis) and CD markers (on x-axis).

Twenty five common EV markers were expressed in donors pre and post nephrectomy:

- fifteen immune and inflammatory cells markers such as CD2, CD8, CD56, CD105, CD25, CD209, CD40, CD62p, CD86, CD142, CD20, CD14, CD69, CD11c and CD3;
- six molecules involved in cell adhesion: CD49e, CD42, CD29, CD326, CD41b and CD44;
- the renal stem cell marker (CD133 and CD24)
- the molecules of major histocompatibility complex (HLA1 and HLA-DR).

Interestingly, the expression of renal stem cell marker CD133 along with CD24 was found to be increased in terms of nMFI 7 days after nephrectomy in 23 and 16 donors respectively (Figure 4.14).



**Figure 4.14:** Graph representing donor distributions expressing renal stem cell marker CD133 and CD24 in respect to pre nephrectomy and increased nMFI.

Further, we classified donors into 2 subgroups: *Group 1* includes donors who had renal stem cell markers expression 7 days post nephrectomy and *Group 2* includes donors without expression of renal stem cell markers 7 days post nephrectomy. In particular, seven days post nephrectomy three donors did not show any expression for renal stem cell markers (figure 4.14).

Sixteen markers were different between *Group 1* and 2. *Group 2* didn't show the expression of: T-cell (CD4) and B-cell (CD19) related markers, cell adhesion markers (CD42, CD44 and CD29), immune and inflammatory markers (CD3, CD8, CD56, CD105, CD25, CD40, CD20, CD11c, and CD69) and the molecules of major histocompatibility complex (HLA1 and HLA-DR).

Eight common markers were expressed between these 2 groups: CD2, CD49E, CD326, CD62p, CD14, and CD142, CD45 and CD1c.

EV-surface	Role	Pre nephrectomy	post		
marker description		(N=27)	nephrectomy		
			(N=27)		
CELL ADHESION	CELL ADHESION MARKERS				
1. CD41b	Hematopoiesis	11(40.74%)	-		
2. CD29	Extracellular matrix component	09(33.33%)	02(7.4%)		
3. CD44	Regulator of activation, recirculation and homing of T cells	09(33.33%)	01(3.7%)		
4. CD326	Cell adhesion regulator	08(29.62%)	03(11.1%)		
5. CD 42	Mediator of platelet adhesion to blood	08 (29.62%)	02(7.4%)		

	vessels		
6. CD49E	Receptor for	07(25.92%)	02(7.4%)
	fibronectin and		
	fibrinogen		
7. MCSP	Regulator of cell	07(25.92%)	-
	proliferation and		
	migration		
IMN	IUNE AND INFLAM	MATORY MARKE	RS
8. CD2	Mediator of	11 (40.74%)	05(18.51%)
	adhesion between		
	T-cells and other		
	cell types		
9. CD20	Regulation of	10(37.03%)	06(22.2%)
	cellular calcium		
	influx necessary for		
	the development,		
	differentiation, and		
	activation of B cells		
10. CD56	Cell adhesion	09(33.33%)	01(3.70%)
	molecule involved		
	in neuron-neuron		
	adhesion, neurite		
	fasciculation,		
	outgrowth of		
	neuritis		
	Mediator of signal	08(29.62%)	05(18.51%)
11. CD3	transduction		
	ambucuon		
12. CD62p	Mediator of	08(29.62%)	07(25.92%)

	interaction between		
	activated		
	endothelial cells or		
	platelets with		
	leukocytes		
13. CD11c	Receptor for	08(29.62%)	06(22.22%)
	fibrinogen		
14. CD105	Vascular	07(25.92%)	02(7.40%)
	endothelium		
	glycoprotein that		
	regulates		
	angiogenesis		
15. CD142	Coagulation	07(25.92%)	05(18.51%)
	regulator		
16. CD14	Co-receptor for	06(22.22%)	07(25.92%)
	bacterial		
	lipopolysaccharide		
17. CD40	Co-stimulator of T	06(22.22%)	07(25.92%)
	and B cells		
18. CD8	Co-receptor for	06(22.22%)	03(11.11%)
	MHC class I		
	molecule		
19. CD25	Marker for immune	05(18.51%)	02(7.40%)
	cell activation		
20. CD209	Pathogen-	04(14.81%)	04(14.81%)
	recognition receptor		
21. CD69	Immune cell	04(14.81%)	03(11.11%)
	activation		
22. CD86	Co-stimulator of T	03(11.11%)	02(7.40%)

	cells proliferation			
	and interleukin-2			
	production			
	ENDOTHELIAL CI	ELL MARKERS		
23. CD146	Melanoma Cell		-	
	Adhesion Molecule			
24. CD31	Regulator of		-	
	leukocyte trans			
	endothelial			
	migration (TEM)			
T CI	ELL, B CELL, LEUK	OCYTES AND Ag	PCs	
25. CD19	Co-receptor for the	08(29.62%)	01(3.7%)	
	B-cell antigen			
	receptor complex			
	(BCR)			
26. CD4	Co-receptor for	09(33.3%)	02(7.4%)	
	MHC class II			
	molecule			
27. CD45	Positive regulator of	11(40.74%)	04(14.8%)	
	T-cell co-activation			
28. CD1c	Antigen-presenting	08(29.62%)	04(14.8%)	
	protein			
MHC-I / MHC-II				
29. HLA-1	Immune response	10 (37.03%)	09(33.33%)	
	regulator			
30. HLA-DR	Immune response	16(59.25%)	13(48.14%)	
	regulator			
RENAL STEM CELL MARKERS				
31. CD 133	Marker of renal	20 (74.07%)	23(85.18%)	
------------------------------------	-------------------	-------------	------------	
	progenitor cell			
32. CD 24	Marker of renal	18 (66.6%)	16(59.25%)	
	progenitor cell			
STAGE SPECIFIC EMBRYONIC ANTIGEN-4				
33. (SSEA-4)	Marker for	14(51.85%)	-	
	undifferentiated,			
	pluripotent human			
	embryonic stem			
	cells			
DIAGNOSTIC TUMOR CELL MARKERS				
34. ROR1	Neurite growth	08(29.62%)	-	
	modulation in			
	central nervous			
	system			

**Table 4.3**: Description and role for each EV-surface markers pre and postnephrectomy.

Chapter 5: Discussions

## Chapter: 5

## Discussions

Kidney/renal transplantation (RTx) is considered the best available treatment for end stage renal disease (ESRD). Only a limited population of patients may have access to it, due the scarcity of donors. Therefore, factors that could affect renal transplant outcomes must be carefully evaluated.

An important asset for patients with ESRD is the "living donor kidney transplantation" (LDRT) which has numerous advantages, both in terms of waiting time and renal outcome, compared to transplantation from a deceased donor. The LDRT procedure must be carried out to minimise the effect on donors' health. Notably, an acceptable residual renal function is normally required in donor subjects to justify living kidney donation strategy. Although, past studies has shown that nephrectomy might not affect short-term or long-term outcomes, development of chronic kidney disease (CKD) and eventually requirement of renal replacement therapy (RRT) have been reported among living kidney donors [129] [130]. Moreover, recent studies have shown the effect of renal mass in living donor outcomes [131]. Therefore, accurate and responsible donor screening strategies, and careful post donation care and follow-up must be performed. Previous studies have particularly compared the renal functional reserve (RFR) of donors and recipients post donation with RFR of healthy volunteer or RFR of solitary kidney [132] [133]. Only some studies have shown RFR in donors' pre donation [134] [135].

In recent years, urinary extracellular vesicles (uEVs) have gained interest for their role as non-invasive biomarkers for kidney related pathologies [136]. Like in several other body fluids, urine is a rich source of EVs originating directly from the cells coating the urinary lumen, consisting of differentiated tubular cells, progenitor cells and infiltrating inflammatory cells. Certain markers of glomerular and tubular damage like NGAL [137], WT-1[138, 139] and ATF3 [140], including renal regeneration marker, such as CD133 [140] [141] [142] [143], have been associated with uEVs. Several studies have shown the expression of CD133 in urine was reduced in acute and chronic glomerular damage [144] and was associated with slow

graft function and recovery [143]. Thus, uEVs represent an important source of information for diagnostic purposes [137] [138] [139] [140] [141]. uEVs being markers of damage or diagnosis, also plays a vital role in providing information on physiopathological state of the kidney and the intrinsic mechanisms of its homeostasis and repair.

Recent studies have indicated that kidney consists majority of cells involved in the continuous renewal and regeneration of epithelia as well as in repair mechanisms after renal injury or damage [145]. A cell population with CD133 expression and progenitor characteristics has been identified in human kidney [146], and its number was found to be increased in the cortex after acute kidney injury (AKI) [147]. Stem cell derived microvesicles are known to act in a paracrine fashion to support the neighbouring cells [148]. The scattered CD133<sup>+</sup> progenitor cells along the nephron may release CD133<sup>+</sup> EVs with a functional effect along the renal tubules and were found to be positive for proximal tubule and glomerular markers suggesting their origin from the upper part of the nephron [143].

Vesicles from injured cells may favour fibrosis and disease progression whereas those with regenerative potential may promote cell survival. Therefore, uEVs have become a reliable source of non-invasive biomarkers for detecting any change in physiopathology of their parental cell and are also bio activator in kidney diseases as uEVs are shown to be rich in innate immunity proteins including antimicrobial proteins, peptides, bacterial and viral receptors [149].

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study that investigated the predictive performance of pre-donation RFR with protein load and that characterised uEVs Pre and Post nephrectomy, as predictive renal function markers. The major findings of this study consist in phenotypical profiling of uEVs subpopulations, obtained from urine of donors' pre and 7 days post nephrectomy. We systematically evaluated differentially expressed uEVs antigens.

A significant increase in GFR pre transplant renal stress test (RST) was observed among donors post protein load, with corresponding high RFR values. Correlation between basal creatinine clearance (CrCl) and stress GFR (sGFR) post protein load was statistically significant.

All living donors had poor renal function after nephrectomy and renal recovery was observed after 7 days. Reduction of 20-40 % in bGFR after nephrectomy has been already reported in literature [150]. The difference between SrCr pre and 7 days post donation was not significant as also for GFR pre and post nephrectomy. Moreover, correlation between RFR and post nephrectomy GFR was statistically significant. This may be due to the utilisation of preserved capacity post nephrectomy by the remaining kidney through glomerular hyperfiltartion, to maintain normal organ function in resting conditions. Personal behaviour and physical characteristics all define bGFR in resting conditions, and hence the amount of RFR used post nephrectomy [151].

Seven days post donation, donors showed an increase number of uEVs. Among the 37 surface markers, 34 were expressed pre nephrectomy at different levels. The most expressed markers were the cell adhesion molecules (CD41b, CD29, CD44, CD326), the immune and inflammatory cell markers (CD20, CD56, CD2, CD11c and CD105), HLA-DR, HLA-1 and SSEA-4. All of these markers had higher nMFI than the levels found after nephrectomy.

Seven days after nephrectomy 29 markers were expressed by the donors in comparison to 33 markers expressed pre nephrectomy, with 25 common markers in between them. The analysis of surface markers of uEVs in post nephrectomy donors showed a high expression of renal stem cell markers CD133 and CD24.

As majority of EVs in urine are released by cells of the nephron and can come up with information on kidney function. Among uEVs markers differentially expressed in donors 7 days after nephrectomy, CD133 and CD24 are of interest because they are markers of renal progenitor cells [152] [153] [154].

Studies have indicated that, cells with progenitor characteristics expressing CD133 cell marker are present in different segments of the human nephron, locally present in proximal tubules, the Bowman capsule of glomeruli and in inner medullary papilla region that includes S3 limb segment and Henle's loop [155] [156]. CD133 cell

population expressed renal embryonic and stem-related transcription factors that were able to differentiate into mature renal epithelial cells [155]. Studies show that levels of urinary CD133<sup>+</sup> EV are reduced in patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD), possibly indicating that these vesicles are only released by functioning renal tissue [143]. The levels of CD133 uEVs was found to be significantly decreased in pediatric patients with acute glomerulonephritis (AGN) and in diabetic patients with albuminuria [144]. However CD133<sup>+</sup> levels was restored after subsequent recovery in AGN patients, suggesting that the level of CD133<sup>+</sup> uEVs may act as a marker of normal renal physiology and can provide information on regeneration of cells within tubules [157] and in patients with proteinurea (glomerularnephritis) [147]. Moreover, CD133<sup>+</sup> cells increased in number after AKI proved that CD133 may represent a marker of renal function and their role in renal repair and damage [143] [154].

Post nephrectomy rise in the levels of CD133 and CD24 detected in the majority of the donors, may reflect the involvement of progenitor cells in renal homeostasis providing regenerative renal potential.

**Chapter 6: Conclusions** 

## Chapter: 6

## Conclusions

The results of this study suggest that the RFR via oral protein load is a safe, feasible, easy and an inexpensive tool and could be used before transplant to establish the global filtration capacity of the donor kidneys as sGFR. The assessment of the RFR must also be suggested in the clinical follow-up of donors post nephrectomy to provide the possibilities of the evaluation of the single kidney function and to check donors' susceptibility in developing kidney injury before clinical evidences.

Urine is a rich reservoir of extracellular vesicles (EVs) directly originating from the urinary lumen, including differentiated tubular cells, progenitor cells and infiltrating inflammatory cells. Several markers of glomerular and tubular damage as well as of renal regeneration such as CD133 have been identified as an incredible source of information for diagnosis purposes.

Pre and post RFR along with pre and post uEVs assessment may represent a useful screening tool for LDRT, providing us more information about the quality of the kidneys without any surgical intervention (like biopsy) and possibly increase the number of living kidney donors.

References

- Kaufman DP, Basit H, Knohl SJ. Physiology, Glomerular Filtration Rate. 2020 Jul 26. In:StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan–. PMID: 29763208.
- J. Ludlow et. al. (2011). "Tissue Engineering Part B: Reviews." Libertpub.com (Online Article). online.liebertpub.com.
- L. Perin et. al. (2007). "Stem Cell and Regenerative Science Applications in the Development of Bioengineering of Renal Tissue" *Children's Hospital Los Angeles* (Online Article). Ppg. 467 – 469 <u>www.nature.com</u>.
- Kumar R, Tebben PJ, Thompson JR (2012) Vitamin D and the kidney. Arch Biochem Biophys 523:77–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2012.03.003</u>
- The Kidneys and How They Work Page National Kidney and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse.(n.d.). *Home Page - National Kidney* and Urologic Diseases Information Clearinghouse. Retrieved from kidney.niddk.nih.gov.
- Haussler MR, Whitfield GK, Haussler CA et al (2016) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D and klotho: a tale of two renal hormones coming of age. Vitam Horm 100:165–230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/BS.VH.2015.11.005</u>
- Lote CJ (2012) Essential anatomy of the kidney principles of renal physiology. Springer, New York, pp 21–32
- Kowalkowski K, Klapczynski M, Blomme E, Buck W, Liguori M (2017) Evaluating in vitro canine kidney slices as a renal toxicity model using nephrotoxic agents cisplatin and cadmium chloride. FASEB J 31:819.8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.31.1\_supplement.819.8</u>
- Holechek MJ (2003) Glomerular filtration: an overview. Nephrol Nurs J J Am Nephrol Nurs Assoc 30:285–290 (quiz 291–2).
- 10. Eshbach ML, Weisz OA (2017) Receptor-mediated endocytosis in the proximal tubule. Annu Rev Physiol 79(1):425–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034234</u>

- 11. Eshbach ML, Weisz OA (2017) Receptor-mediated endocytosis in the proximal tubule. Annu Rev Physiol 79(1):425–448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034234</u>
- 12. Feher J (2017) Tubular Reabsorption and Secretion. Quant Hum Physiol. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-800883-6.00072-0</u>
- 13. Ehtesham Arif, Deepak Nihalani(Apr 2013). Postdoc J 1(4):33-45.
- 14. Anand Bhaskar and Vinay Oommen (2018) A simple model for demonstrating the factors affecting glomerular filtration rate. Advances in physiology education. 15 May 2018. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1152/advan.00195.2017">https://doi.org/10.1152/advan.00195.2017</a>
- 15. Renkin EM, Robinson RR. Glomerular filtration. N Engl J Med. 1974 Apr 4;290(14):785-92. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197404042901408. PMID: 4592673Martin R.Pollak, Susan E.Quaggin, etal .(2014).The Glomerulus: The sphere of influence. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 9:1461-1469, 2014. Doi:10.2215/CJN.09400913
- 16. Dalal R, Bruss ZS, Sehdev JS. Physiology, Renal Blood Flow and Filtration.
  [Updated 2021 Feb 14]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan-. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482248/
- Post, E.H., Vincent, JL. Renal autoregulation and blood pressure management in circulatory shock. *Crit Care* 22, 81 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-018-1962-8.
- Carlström M, Wilcox CS, Arendshorst WJ. Renal autoregulation in health and disease. Physiol Rev. 2015 Apr;95(2):405-511. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00042.2012. PMID: 25834230; PMCID: PMC4551215.
- Levey AS, Inker LA. Assessment of Glomerular Filtration Rate in Health and Disease: A State of the Art Review. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2017 Sep;102(3):405-419. doi: 10.1002/cpt.729. Epub 2017 Jun 5. PMID: 28474735.
- 20. Sandilands, E. A., Dhaun, N., Dear, J. W., & Webb, D. J. (2013). Measurement of renal function in patients with chronic kidney

disease. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*, 76(4), 504–515. https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.12198

- 21. Nicolas Rognant, Justine Bacchetta, Laurence Dubourg, Si Nafaa Si Ahmed, Sylvie Radenne, Jérôme Dumortier, Aoumeur Hadj-Aïssa, What is the best alternative to inulin clearance to estimate GFR in patients with decompensated alcoholic cirrhosis?, *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, Volume 25, Issue 11, November 2010, Pages 3569– 3575, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfq248</u>
- 22. Gowda, S., Desai, P. B., Kulkarni, S. S., Hull, V. V., Math, A. A., & Vernekar, S. N. (2010). Markers of renal function tests. *North American journal of medical sciences*, 2(4), 170–173.
- Sun, I. O., & Lerman, L. O. (2020). Urinary Extracellular Vesicles as Biomarkers of Kidney Disease: From Diagnostics to Therapeutics. *Diagnostics (Basel, Switzerland)*, 10(5), 311. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics10050311
- 24. Shemesh O, Golbetz H, Kriss JP, Myers BD. Limitations of creatinine as a filtration marker in glomerulopathic patients. Kidney Int. 1985 Nov;28(5):830-8. doi: 10.1038/ki.1985.205. PMID: 2418254.
- 25. Miller W, Myers G, Ashwood E, et al. Creatinine measurement: state of the art in accuracy and interlaboratory harmonization. *Arch Pathol Lab Med.* 2005;129(3):297–304.
- 26. Shahbaz H, Gupta M. Creatinine Clearance. [Updated 2020 Sep 2]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan.
- 27. Corbett JV. 7th Ed. 2008. Laboratory tests and diagnostic procedures with nursing diagnoses; pp. 90–107.
- Rosner MH, Bolton WK. Renal function testing. Am J Kidney Dis. 2006 Jan;47(1):174-83. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2005.08.038. PMID: 16377400.
- Pagana , Kathleen D. Mosby's Manual of Diagnostic and Laboratory Tests.
   St. Louis Mosby, Inc., 1998 and Rebecca J.F Gale Encyclopedia of Medicine. 2002.

- 30. Schrier RW. Blood urea nitrogen and serum creatinine: not married in heart failure. Circ Heart Fail. 2008 May;1(1):2-5. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.108.770834. PMID: 19808263.
- 31. Kazory A. Emergence of blood urea nitrogen as a biomarker of neurohormonal activation in heart failure. Am J Cardiol. 2010 Sep 1;106(5):694-700. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.04.024. Epub 2010 Jul 23. PMID: 20723648.
- Randers E, Erlandsen EJ. Serum cystatin C as an endogenous marker of the renal function--a review. Clin Chem Lab Med. 1999 Apr;37(4):389-95. doi: 10.1515/CCLM.1999.064. PMID: 10369108.
- 33. Dharnidharka VR, Kwon C, Stevens G. Serum cystatin C is superior to serum creatinine as a marker of kidney function: a meta-analysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Aug;40(2):221-6. doi: 10.1053/ajkd.2002.34487. PMID: 12148093.
- 34. Cholongitas E, Shusang V, Marelli L, Nair D, Thomas M, Patch D, Burns A, Sweny P, Burroughs AK. Review article: renal function assessment in cirrhosis - difficulties and alternative measurements. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2007 Oct 1;26(7):969-78. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2007.03443.x. PMID: 17877504.
- 35. Gerbes AL, Gülberg V, Bilzer M, Vogeser M. Evaluation of serum cystatin C concentration as a marker of renal function in patients with cirrhosis of the liver. Gut. 2002 Jan;50(1):106-10. doi: 10.1136/gut.50.1.106. PMID: 11772976; PMCID: PMC1773066.
- 36. Pucci L, Triscornia S, Lucchesi D, Fotino C, Pellegrini G, Pardini E, Miccoli R, Del Prato S, Penno G. Cystatin C and estimates of renal function: searching for a better measure of kidney function in diabetic patients. Clin Chem. 2007 Mar;53(3):480-8. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2006.076042. Epub 2007 Jan 26. PMID: 17259236.
- 37. Shlipak MG, Katz R, Fried LF, Jenny NS, Stehman-Breen C, Newman AB, Siscovick D, Psaty BM, Sarnak MJ. Cystatin-C and mortality in elderly persons with heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005 Jan 18;45(2):268-71. doi:

10.1016/j.jacc.2004.09.061. Erratum in: J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005 Mar 1;45(5):811. PMID: 15653026.

- 38. Valente MA, Hillege HL, Navis G, Voors AA, Dunselman PH, van Veldhuisen DJ, Damman K. The Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration equation outperforms the Modification of Diet in Renal Disease equation for estimating glomerular filtration rate in chronic systolic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 2014 Jan;16(1):86-94. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hft128. Epub 2013 Dec 3. PMID: 23901055.
- Edmund L, David J. Kidney function tests. In: Carl AB, Edward R, David E, editors. *Tietz Textbook of clinical chemistry and molecular diagnostics*. 4th ed. New Delhi: Elsevier Inc; 2006. pp. 797–808.
- 40. Priem F, Althaus H, Birnbaum M, Sinha P, Conradt HS, Jung K. Beta-trace protein in serum: a new marker of glomerular filtration rate in the creatinineblind range. Clin Chem. 1999 Apr;45(4):567-8. PMID: 10102918.
- 41. Woitas RP, Stoffel-Wagner B, Poege U, Schiedermaier P, Spengler U, Sauerbruch T. Low-molecular weight proteins as markers for glomerular filtration rate. Clin Chem. 2001 Dec;47(12):2179-80. PMID: 11719489.
- Hoffmann A, Nimtz M, Conradt HS. Molecular characterization of beta-trace protein in human serum and urine: a potential diagnostic marker for renal diseases. Glycobiology. 1997 Jun;7(4):499-506. doi: 10.1093/glycob/7.4.499. PMID: 9184830.
- Bajaj G, Alexander SR, Browne R, Sakarcan A, Seikaly MG. 125Iodineiothalamate clearance in children. A simple method to measure glomerular filtration. Pediatr Nephrol. 1996 Feb;10(1):25-8. doi: 10.1007/BF00863432. PMID: 8611350.
- 44. van Rossum LK, Zietse R, Vulto AG, de Rijke YB. Renal extraction of cystatin C vs 125I-iothalamate in hypertensive patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2006 May;21(5):1253-6. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfk083. Epub 2006 Jan 18. PMID: 16421151.
- 45. Mårtensson J, Groth S, Rehling M, Gref M. Chromium-51-EDTA clearance in adults with a single-plasma sample. J Nucl Med. 1998 Dec;39(12):2131-7. PMID: 9867156.

- 46. Godfrey T, Cuadrado MJ, Fofi C, Abbs I, Khamashta MA, Nunan T, Hughes GR. Chromium-51 ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid glomerular filtration rate: a better predictor than glomerular filtration rate calculated by the Cockcroft-Gault formula for renal involvement in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2001 Mar;40(3):324-8. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/40.3.324. PMID: 11285381.
- 47. Mårtensson J, Groth S, Rehling M, Gref M. Chromium-51-EDTA clearance in adults with a single-plasma sample. J Nucl Med. 1998 Dec;39(12):2131-7. PMID: 9867156.
- Pisitkun T, Shen RF, Knepper MA. Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2004 Sep 7;101(36):13368-73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0403453101. Epub 2004 Aug 23. PMID: 15326289; PMCID: PMC516573.
- 49. Zhou H, Kajiyama H, Tsuji T, Hu X, Leelahavanichkul A, Vento S, Frank R, Kopp JB, Trachtman H, Star RA, Yuen PS. Urinary exosomal Wilms' tumor-1 as a potential biomarker for podocyte injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2013 Aug 15;305(4):F553-9. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00056.2013. Epub 2013 Jun 12. PMID: 23761678; PMCID: PMC3891263.
- 50. Kalani A, Mohan A, Godbole MM, Bhatia E, Gupta A, Sharma RK, Tiwari S. Wilm's tumor-1 protein levels in urinary exosomes from diabetic patients with or without proteinuria. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e60177. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060177. Epub 2013 Mar 27. PMID: 23544132; PMCID: PMC3609819.
- 51. Hogan MC, Manganelli L, Woollard JR, Masyuk AI, Masyuk TV, Tammachote R, Huang BQ, Leontovich AA, Beito TG, Madden BJ, Charlesworth MC, Torres VE, LaRusso NF, Harris PC, Ward CJ. Characterization of PKD protein-positive exosome-like vesicles. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009 Feb;20(2):278-88. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2008060564. Epub 2009 Jan 21. PMID: 19158352; PMCID: PMC2637052.
- Makris K, Spanou L. Acute Kidney Injury: Definition, Pathophysiology and Clinical Phenotypes. Clin Biochem Rev. 2016 May;37(2):85-98. PMID: 28303073; PMCID: PMC5198510.

- Kazancioğlu R. Risk factors for chronic kidney disease: an update. Kidney Int Suppl (2011). 2013 Dec;3(4):368-371. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2013.79. PMID: 25019021; PMCID: PMC4089662.
- 54. Currie G, Delles C. Proteinuria and its relation to cardiovascular disease. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis. 2013 Dec 21;7:13-24. doi: 10.2147/IJNRD.S40522. PMID: 24379690; PMCID: PMC3873205.
- 55. Chawla R, Madhu SV, Makkar BM, Ghosh S, Saboo B, Kalra S; RSSDI-ESI Consensus Group. RSSDI-ESI Clinical Practice Recommendations for the Management of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus 2020. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2020 Jan-Feb;24(1):1-122. doi: 10.4103/ijem.IJEM\_225\_20. Erratum in: Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2020 Jul-Aug;24(4):376. PMID: 32699774; PMCID: PMC7328526.
- Schnaper HW. The Tubulointerstitial Pathophysiology of Progressive Kidney Disease. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2017 Mar;24(2):107-116. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2016.11.011. PMID: 28284376; PMCID: PMC5351778.
- 57. Tan HL, Yap JQ, Qian Q. Acute Kidney Injury: Tubular Markers and Risk for Chronic Kidney Disease and End-Stage Kidney Failure. Blood Purif. 2016;41(1-3):144-50. doi: 10.1159/000441269. Epub 2016 Jan 15. PMID: 26764483.
- Zhang WR, Parikh CR. Biomarkers of Acute and Chronic Kidney Disease. Annu Rev Physiol. 2019 Feb 10;81:309-333. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-020518-114605. PMID: 30742783; PMCID: PMC7879424.
- Florkowski CM, Chew-Harris JS. Methods of Estimating GFR Different Equations Including CKD-EPI. Clin Biochem Rev. 2011 May;32(2):75-9.
   PMID: 21611080; PMCID: PMC3100284.
- Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron. 1976;16(1):31-41. doi: 10.1159/000180580. PMID: 1244564.
- 61. Botev R, Mallié JP, Couchoud C, Schück O, Fauvel JP, Wetzels JF, Lee N, De Santo NG, Cirillo M. Estimating glomerular filtration rate: Cockcroft-Gault and Modification of Diet in Renal Disease formulas compared to renal inulin clearance. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009 May;4(5):899-906. doi:

10.2215/CJN.05371008. Epub 2009 Apr 30. PMID: 19406960; PMCID: PMC2676189.

- National Kidney Foundation. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Feb;39(2 Suppl 1):S1-266. PMID: 11904577.
- 63. Levey AS, Bosch JP, Lewis JB, Greene T, Rogers N, Roth D. A more accurate method to estimate glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine: a new prediction equation. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease Study Group. Ann Intern Med. 1999 Mar 16;130(6):461-70. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-130-6-199903160-00002. PMID: 10075613.
- 64. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF 3rd, Feldman HI, Kusek JW, Eggers P, Van Lente F, Greene T, Coresh J; CKD-EPI (Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration). A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med. 2009 May 5;150(9):604-12. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-150-9-200905050-00006. Erratum in: Ann Intern Med. 2011 Sep 20;155(6):408. PMID: 19414839; PMCID: PMC2763564.
- 65. Levey AS, Greene T, Kusek J, Beck G. A simplified equation to predict glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine [Abstract A0828] J Am Soc Nephrol. 2000;11:155A.
- 66. Levey AS, Coresh J, Greene T, Stevens LA, Zhang YL, Hendriksen S, Kusek JW, Van Lente F; Chronic Kidney Disease Epidemiology Collaboration. Using standardized serum creatinine values in the modification of diet in renal disease study equation for estimating glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med. 2006 Aug 15;145(4):247-54. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-145-4-200608150-00004. Erratum in: Ann Intern Med. 2008 Oct 7;149(7):519. Erratum in: Ann Intern Med. 2021 Apr;174(4):584. PMID: 16908915.
- 67. Vaidya SR, Aeddula NR. Chronic Renal Failure. [Updated 2020 Dec 1]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan.
- Tandukar S, Palevsky PM. Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy: Who, When, Why, and How. Chest. 2019 Mar;155(3):626-638. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2018.09.004. Epub 2018 Sep 25. PMID: 30266628; PMCID: PMC6435902.

- Biancone L., Cozzi E., Lopez-Fraga M. Long-term outcome of living kidney donation: position paper of the European Committee on Organ Transplantation (CD-P-TO), Council of Europe. Transplant Int. 29:129–131, 2016.
- 70. Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, Ojo AO, Ettenger RE, Agodoa LY, Held PJ, Port FK. Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant. N Engl J Med. 1999 Dec 2;341(23):1725-30. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199912023412303. PMID: 10580071.
- 71. Abramyan S, Hanlon M. Kidney Transplantation. [Updated 2021 Jan 6]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 Jan-Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK567755/.
- 72. Suthanthiran M, Strom TB. Renal transplantation. N Engl J Med. 1994 Aug 11;331(6):365-76. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199408113310606. PMID: 7832839.
- 73. Wolfe RA, Ashby VB, Milford EL, Ojo AO, Ettenger RE, Agodoa LY, Held PJ, Port FK. Comparison of mortality in all patients on dialysis, patients on dialysis awaiting transplantation, and recipients of a first cadaveric transplant. N Engl J Med. 1999 Dec 2;341(23):1725-30. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199912023412303. PMID: 10580071.
- 74. Leichtman AB, Cohen D, Keith D, O'Connor K, Goldstein M, McBride V, Gould CJ, Christensen LL, Ashby VB. Kidney and pancreas transplantation in the United States, 1997-2006: the HRSA Breakthrough Collaboratives and the 58 DSA Challenge. Am J Transplant. 2008 Apr;8(4 Pt 2):946-57. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02173.x. PMID: 18336698.
- 75. Abramowicz D, Cochat P, Claas FH, Heemann U, Pascual J, Dudley C, Harden P, Hourmant M, Maggiore U, Salvadori M, Spasovski G, Squifflet JP, Steiger J, Torres A, Viklicky O, Zeier M, Vanholder R, Van Biesen W, Nagler E. European Renal Best Practice Guideline on kidney donor and recipient evaluation and perioperative care. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2015 Nov;30(11):1790-7. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfu216. Epub 2014 Jul 9. PMID: 25007790.

- 76. Pilmore H, Dent H, Chang S, McDonald SP, Chadban SJ. Reduction in cardiovascular death after kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2010 Apr 15;89(7):851-7. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181caeead. PMID: 20048695.
- 77. Wang LW, Fahim MA, Hayen A, Mitchell RL, Lord SW, Baines LA, Craig JC, Webster AC. Cardiac testing for coronary artery disease in potential kidney transplant recipients: a systematic review of test accuracy studies. Am J Kidney Dis. 2011 Mar;57(3):476-87. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2010.11.018. Epub 2011 Jan 22. PMID: 21257239.
- 78. Adams HP Jr, Dawson G, Coffman TJ, Corry RJ. Stroke in renal transplant recipients. Arch Neurol. 1986 Feb;43(2):113-5. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1986.00520020007006. PMID: 3511893.
- 79. International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms Investigators. Unruptured intracranial aneurysms--risk of rupture and risks of surgical intervention. N Engl J Med. 1998 Dec 10;339(24):1725-33. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199812103392401. Erratum in: N Engl J Med 1999 Mar 4;340(9):744. PMID: 9867550.
- Coleman S, Kerr H, Goldfarb D, Krishnamurthi V, Rabets JC. Utilization of vascular conduits to facilitate renal transplantation in patients with significant aortoiliac calcification. Urology. 2014 Oct;84(4):967-70. doi: 10.1016/j.urology.2014.07.026. PMID: 25260455.
- 81. US Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for Colorectal Cancer: US
   Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation
   Statement. JAMA. 2021;325(19):1965–1977. doi:10.1001/jama.2021.6238.
- 82. Irish A. Hypercoagulability in renal transplant recipients. Identifying patients at risk of renal allograft thrombosis and evaluating strategies for prevention. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. 2004;4(3):139-49. doi: 10.2165/00129784-200404030-00001. PMID: 15134466.
- Chapman JR, Sheil AG, Disney AP. Recurrence of cancer after renal transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2001 Feb-Mar;33(1-2):1830-1. doi: 10.1016/s0041-1345(00)02698-1. PMID: 11267531.
- 84. Zlotnick DM, Axelrod DA, Chobanian MC, Friedman S, Brown J, Catherwood E, Costa SP. Non-invasive detection of pulmonary hypertension

prior to renal transplantation is a predictor of increased risk for early graft dysfunction. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010 Sep;25(9):3090-6. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq141. Epub 2010 Mar 17. PMID: 20299337.

- 85. McAdams-DeMarco MA, Law A, King E, Orandi B, Salter M, Gupta N, Chow E, Alachkar N, Desai N, Varadhan R, Walston J, Segev DL. Frailty and mortality in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2015 Jan;15(1):149-54. doi: 10.1111/ajt.12992. Epub 2014 Oct 30. PMID: 25359393; PMCID: PMC4332809.
- Wijdicks EF. The diagnosis of brain death. N Engl J Med. 2001 Apr 19;344(16):1215-21. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200104193441606. PMID: 11309637.
- 87. Sung RS, Christensen LL, Leichtman AB, Greenstein SM, Distant DA, Wynn JJ, Stegall MD, Delmonico FL, Port FK. Determinants of discard of expanded criteria donor kidneys: impact of biopsy and machine perfusion. Am J Transplant. 2008 Apr;8(4):783-92. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2008.02157.x. Epub 2008 Feb 19. PMID: 18294347.
- 88. Zens TJ, Danobeitia JS, Leverson G, Chlebeck PJ, Zitur LJ, Redfield RR, D'Alessandro AM, Odorico S, Kaufman DB, Fernandez LA. The impact of kidney donor profile index on delayed graft function and transplant outcomes: A single-center analysis. Clin Transplant. 2018 Mar;32(3):e13190. doi: 10.1111/ctr.13190. PMID: 29314286; PMCID: PMC6455919.
- Reese PP, Harhay MN, Abt PL, Levine MH, Halpern SD. New Solutions to Reduce Discard of Kidneys Donated for Transplantation. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016 Apr;27(4):973-80. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015010023. Epub 2015 Sep 14. PMID: 26369343; PMCID: PMC4814180.
- 90. Treat EG, Miller ET, Kwan L, Connor SE, Maliski SL, Hicks EM, Williams KC, Whitted LA, Gritsch HA, McGuire SM, Mone TD, Veale JL. Outcomes of shipped live donor kidney transplants compared with traditional living donor kidney transplants. Transpl Int. 2014 Nov;27(11):1175-82. doi: 10.1111/tri.12405. Epub 2014 Sep 22. PMID: 25052215.

- 91. Hilbrands LB. Latest developments in living kidney donation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2020 Feb;25(1):74-79. doi: 10.1097/MOT.0000000000724. PMID: 31833966.
- 92. Montgomery RA, Gentry SE, Marks WH, Warren DS, Hiller J, Houp J, Zachary AA, Melancon JK, Maley WR, Rabb H, Simpkins C, Segev DL. Domino paired kidney donation: a strategy to make best use of live nondirected donation. Lancet. 2006 Jul 29;368(9533):419-21. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69115-0. PMID: 16876670.
- 93. Lee LY, Pham TA, Melcher ML. Living Kidney Donation: Strategies to Increase the Donor Pool. Surg Clin North Am. 2019 Feb;99(1):37-47. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2018.09.003. PMID: 30471740.
- 94. Warren DS, Montgomery RA. Incompatible kidney transplantation: lessons from a decade of desensitization and paired kidney exchange. Immunol Res. 2010 Jul;47(1-3):257-64. doi: 10.1007/s12026-009-8157-y. PMID: 20087679.
- 95. Doshi MD, Ortigosa-Goggins M, Garg AX, Li L, Poggio ED, Winkler CA, Kopp JB. *APOL1* Genotype and Renal Function of Black Living Donors. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018 Apr;29(4):1309-1316. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2017060658. Epub 2018 Jan 16. PMID: 29339549; PMCID: PMC5875947.
- 96. Lentine KL, Kasiske BL, Levey AS, Adams PL, Alberú J, Bakr MA, Gallon L, Garvey CA, Guleria S, Li PK, Segev DL, Taler SJ, Tanabe K, Wright L, Zeier MG, Cheung M, Garg AX. KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline on the Evaluation and Care of Living Kidney Donors. Transplantation. 2017 Aug;101(8S Suppl 1):S1-S109. doi: 10.1097/TP.000000000001769. PMID: 28742762; PMCID: PMC5540357.
- 97. Lentine KL, Kasiske BL, Levey AS, Adams PL, Alberú J, Bakr MA, Gallon L, Garvey CA, Guleria S, Li PK, Segev DL, Taler SJ, Tanabe K, Wright L, Zeier MG, Cheung M, Garg AX. Summary of Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Clinical Practice Guideline on the Evaluation and Care of Living Kidney Donors. Transplantation. 2017 Aug;101(8):1783-

1792. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000001770. PMID: 28737659; PMCID: PMC5542788.

- 98. Garg AX, Levey AS, Kasiske BL, Cheung M, Lentine KL; KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline on the Evaluation and Care of Living Kidney Donors Work Group and Evidence Review Team. Application of the 2017 KDIGO Guideline for the Evaluation and Care of Living Kidney Donors to Clinical Practice. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020 Jun 8;15(6):896-905. doi: 10.2215/CJN.12141019. Epub 2020 Apr 10. PMID: 32276946; PMCID: PMC7274294.
- 99. Axelrod DA, Schnitzler MA, Xiao H, Irish W, Tuttle-Newhall E, Chang SH, Kasiske BL, Alhamad T, Lentine KL. An economic assessment of contemporary kidney transplant practice. Am J Transplant. 2018 May;18(5):1168-1176. doi: 10.1111/ajt.14702. Epub 2018 Mar 31. PMID: 29451350.
- 100. Biancone L, Cozzi E, López-Fraga M, Nanni-Costa A. Long-term outcome of living kidney donation: Position paper of the European Committee on Organ Transplantation (CD-P-TO), Council of Europe. Transpl Int. 2016 Jan;29(1):129-31. doi: 10.1111/tri.12698. Epub 2015 Nov 3. PMID: 26426568.
- 101. Figurek A, Luyckx VA, Mueller TF. A Systematic Review of Renal Functional Reserve in Adult Living Kidney Donors. Kidney Int Rep. 2020 Jan 20;5(4):448-458. doi: 10.1016/j.ekir.2019.12.021. PMID: 32274451; PMCID: PMC7136324.
- 102. Storsley LJ, Young A, Rush DN, Nickerson PW, Ho J, Suon V, Karpinski M. Long-term medical outcomes among Aboriginal living kidney donors. Transplantation. 2010 Aug 27;90(4):401-6. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181e6e79b. PMID: 20562735.
- Rogers NM, Lawton PD, Jose MD. Indigenous Australians and living kidney donation. N Engl J Med. 2009 Oct 8;361(15):1513-6. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc0905777. PMID: 19812415.
- 104. Lentine KL, Segev DL. Understanding and Communicating Medical Risks for Living Kidney Donors: A Matter of Perspective. J Am Soc

Nephrol. 2017 Jan;28(1):12-24. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016050571. Epub 2016 Sep 2. PMID: 27591246; PMCID: PMC5198293.

- 105. Hafeez AR, Idrees MK, Akhtar SF. Accuracy of GFR estimation formula in determination of glomerular filtration rate in kidney donors: Comparison with 24 h urine creatinine clearance. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2016 Mar;27(2):320-5. doi: 10.4103/1319-2442.178551. PMID: 26997385.
- 106. Tent H, Rook M, Stevens LA, van Son WJ, van Pelt LJ, Hofker HS, Ploeg RJ, van der Heide JJ, Navis G. Renal function equations before and after living kidney donation: a within-individual comparison of performance at different levels of renal function. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010 Nov;5(11):1960-8. doi: 10.2215/CJN.08761209. Epub 2010 Jul 8. PMID: 20616162; PMCID: PMC3001772.
- Mueller TF, Luyckx VA. The natural history of residual renal function in transplant donors. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012 Sep;23(9):1462-6. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011111080. Epub 2012 Jul 12. PMID: 22797183.
- 108. De Moor B, Vanwalleghem JF, Swennen Q, Stas KJ, Meijers BKI. Haemodynamic or metabolic stimulation tests to reveal the renal functional response: requiem or revival? Clin Kidney J. 2018 Oct;11(5):623-654. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfy022. Epub 2018 Apr 13. PMID: 30288259; PMCID: PMC6165749.
- 109. Palsson R, Waikar SS. Renal Functional Reserve Revisited. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis. 2018 May;25(3):e1-e8. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2018.03.001. PMID: 29793670.
- 110. Anderson S, Meyer TW, Rennke HG, Brenner BM. Control of glomerular hypertension limits glomerular injury in rats with reduced renal mass. J Clin Invest. 1985 Aug;76(2):612-9. doi: 10.1172/JCI112013. PMID: 2993362; PMCID: PMC423867.
- 111. Hostetter TH, Olson JL, Rennke HG, Venkatachalam MA, Brenner BM. Hyperfiltration in remnant nephrons: a potentially adverse response to renal ablation. Am J Physiol. 1981 Jul;241(1):F85-93. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.1981.241.1.F85. PMID: 7246778.

- Sharma A, Mucino MJ, Ronco C. Renal functional reserve and renal recovery after acute kidney injury. Nephron Clin Pract. 2014;127(1-4):94-100. doi: 10.1159/000363721. Epub 2014 Sep 24. PMID: 25343829.
- Musso CG. Renal reserve test: its methodology and significance. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2011 Sep;22(5):990-3. PMID: 21912030.
- 114. Barai S, Gambhir S, Prasad N, Sharma RK, Ora M. Functional renal reserve capacity in different stages of chronic kidney disease. Nephrology (Carlton). 2010 Apr;15(3):350-3. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1797.2010.01291.x. PMID: 20470306.
- Ronco C, Rosner MH. Acute kidney injury and residual renal function. Crit Care. 2012 Aug 3;16(4):144. doi: 10.1186/cc11426. PMID: 22866976; PMCID: PMC3580707.
- 116. Koyner JL, Chawla LS. Use of stress tests in evaluating kidney disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2017 Jan;26(1):31-35. doi: 10.1097/MNH.0000000000292. PMID: 27820705.
- 117. Ronco C, Ferrari F, Ricci Z. Recovery after Acute Kidney Injury: A New Prognostic Dimension of the Syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2017 Mar 15;195(6):711-714. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201610-1971ED. PMID: 28294655.
- 118. Sharma A, Zaragoza JJ, Villa G, Ribeiro LC, Lu R, Sartori M, Faggiana E, de Cal M, Virzi GM, Corradi V, Brocca A, Husain-Syed F, Brendolan A, Ronco C. Optimizing a kidney stress test to evaluate renal functional reserve. Clin Nephrol. 2016 Jul;86(7):18-26. doi: 10.5414/CN108497. PMID: 27285313.
- 119. Friedlander G, Blanchet F, Amiel C. Renal functional reserve. Toxicol Lett. 1989 Mar;46(1-3):227-35. doi: 10.1016/0378-4274(89)90131-8. PMID: 2650029.
- Bosch JP, Lauer A, Glabman S. Short-term protein loading in assessment of patients with renal disease. Am J Med. 1984 Nov;77(5):873-9. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(84)90529-1. PMID: 6496542.

- Woods LL. Mechanisms of renal hemodynamic regulation in response to protein feeding. Kidney Int. 1993 Oct;44(4):659-75. doi: 10.1038/ki.1993.299. PMID: 8258943.
- 122. Gaipov A, Solak Y, Zhampeissov N, Dzholdasbekova A, Popova N, Molnar MZ, Tuganbekova S, Iskandirova E. Renal functional reserve and renal hemodynamics in hypertensive patients. Ren Fail. 2016 Oct;38(9):1391-1397. doi: 10.1080/0886022X.2016.1214052. Epub 2016 Jul 28. PMID: 27470640.
- Fliser D, Zeier M, Nowack R, Ritz E. Renal functional reserve in healthy elderly subjects. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1993 Jan;3(7):1371-7. doi: 10.1681/ASN.V371371. PMID: 8439649.
- 124. Mueller TF, Luyckx VA. The natural history of residual renal function in transplant donors. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012 Sep;23(9):1462-6. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2011111080. Epub 2012 Jul 12. PMID: 22797183.
- 125. Spinelli A, Sharma A, Villa G, Samoni S, Ramponi F, Brocca A, Brendolan A, Chiaramonte S, Castellano G, Gesualdo L, Ronco C. Rationale for the Evaluation of Renal Functional Reserve in Living Kidney Donors and Recipients: A Pilot Study. Nephron. 2017;135(4):268-276. doi: 10.1159/000454931. Epub 2017 Jan 5. PMID: 28052302.
- 126. RICKHAM PP. HUMAN EXPERIMENTATION. CODE OF ETHICS OF THE WORLD MEDICAL ASSOCIATION. DECLARATION OF HELSINKI. Br Med J. 1964 Jul 18;2(5402):177. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.5402.177. PMID: 14150898; PMCID: PMC1816102.
- 127. Koliha, N., et al. A novel multiplex bead-based platform highlights the diversity of extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles 19: 29975, 2016.
- 128. Wiklander, O.P.B., et al. Systematic Methodological Evaluation of a Multiplex Bead- Based Flow Cytometry Assay for Detection of Extracellular Vesicle Surface Signatures. Front Immunol 13:1326, 2018.
- 129. Fehrman-Ekholm I, Duner F, Brink B, Tyden G, Elinder CG: No evidence of accelerated loss of kidney function in living kidney donors: results from a cross-sectional follow-up. Transplantation 2001;72:444–449.

- 130. Ellison MD, McBride MA, Taranto SE, Delmonico FL, Kauffman HM: Living kidney donors in need of kidney transplants: a report from the organ procurement and transplantation network. Transplantation 2002;74:1349–1351.
- Schachtner T, Reinke P: Estimated nephron number of the remaining donor kidney: impact on living kidney donor outcomes. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2016; 31: 1523–1530.
- 132. Pluvio C, DePascale E, Pluvio M, Carone M, Giordano M, Luzi L, Sabella F, Castellino P: Renal hemodynamics in renal transplant recipients. The role of reduced kidney mass and cyclosporine administration. Transplantation 1996;61:733–738.
- Cassidy MJ, Beck RM: Renal functional reserve in live related kidney donors. Am J Kidney Dis 1988;11:468–472.
- 134. Spinelli A, Sharma A, Villa G, Samoni S, Ramponi F, Brocca A, Brendolan A, Chiaramonte S, Castellano G, Gesualdo L, Ronco C. Rationale for the Evaluation of Renal Functional Reserve in Living Kidney Donors and Recipients: A Pilot Study. Nephron. 2017;135(4):268-276. doi: 10.1159/000454931. Epub 2017 Jan 5. PMID: 28052302.
- Gabriele Guglielmetti, Angelo Nappo, Umberto Maria Morosini, 135. Gian Mauro Sacchetti, Ronco Claudio, Vincenzo Cantaluppi, FP307 IMPROVEMENT OF RENAL FUNCTION EVALUATION IN LIVING KIDNEY DONORS: ROLE OF RADIOISOTOPIC GLOMERULAR **FILTRATION** RATE AND OF RENAL **FUNCTIONAL** RESERVE, Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, Volume 34, Issue Supplement\_1, June 2019. gfz106.FP307, https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfz106.FP307.
- 136. Salih M, Zietse R, Hoorn EJ. Urinary extracellular vesicles and the kidney: biomarkers and beyond. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2014 Jun 1;306(11):F1251-9. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00128.2014. Epub 2014 Apr 2. PMID: 24694589.
- 137. Alvarez S., Suazo C., Boltansky A., Ursu M., Carvajal D., Innocenti G., Vukusich A., Hurtado M., Villanueva S., Carreño J.E., et al. Urinary

Exosomes as a Source of Kidney Dysfunction Biomarker in Renal Transplantation. *Transplant. Proc.* 2013;45:3719–3723. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2013.08.079.

- 138. Zhou H, Kajiyama H, Tsuji T, Hu X, Leelahavanichkul A, Vento S, Frank R, Kopp JB, Trachtman H, Star RA, Yuen PS. Urinary exosomal Wilms' tumor-1 as a potential biomarker for podocyte injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 305: F553–F559, 2013.
- 139. Kalani A, Mohan A, Godbole MM, Bhatia E, Gupta A, Sharma RK, Tiwari S. Wilm's tumor-1 protein levels in urinary exosomes from diabetic patients with or without proteinuria. PLOS ONE 8: e60177, 2013.
- 140. Ranghino A, Dimuccio V, Papadimitriou E, Bussolati B. Extracellular vesicles in the urine: markers and mediators of tissue damage and regeneration. Clin Kidney J. 2015 Feb;8(1):23-30. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfu136. Epub 2014 Dec 30. PMID: 25713706; PMCID: PMC4310438.
- 141. Ranghino A, Bruno S, Bussolati B, Moggio A, Dimuccio V, Tapparo M, Biancone L, Gontero P, Frea B, Camussi G. The effects of glomerular and tubular renal progenitors and derived extracellular vesicles on recovery from acute kidney injury. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2017 Feb 7;8(1):24. doi: 10.1186/s13287-017-0478-5. PMID: 28173878; PMCID: PMC5297206.
- 142. Bruno S, Camussi G. Isolation and characterization of resident mesenchymal stem cells in human glomeruli. Methods Mol Biol. 2012;879:367-80. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-815-3\_22. PMID: 22610571.
- 143. Dimuccio V, Ranghino A, Praticò Barbato L, Fop F, Biancone L, Camussi G, Bussolati B. Urinary CD133+ extracellular vesicles are decreased in kidney transplanted patients with slow graft function and vascular damage. PLoS One. 2014 Aug 6;9(8):e104490. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0104490.
- 144. Dimuccio V, Peruzzi L, Brizzi MF, Cocchi E, Fop F, Boido A, Gili M, Gallo S, Biancone L, Camussi G, Bussolati B. Acute and chronic glomerular damage is associated with reduced CD133 expression in urinary extracellular vesicles. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2020 Feb 1;318(2):F486-

F495. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00404.2019. Epub 2019 Dec 23. PMID: 31869243.

- 145. Dziedzic K, Pleniceanu O, Dekel B. Kidney stem cells in development, regeneration and cancer. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2014 Dec;36:57-65. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.08.003. Epub 2014 Aug 13. PMID: 25128731.
- 146. Bussolati B, Bruno S, Grange C, Buttiglieri S, Deregibus MC, Cantino D, Camussi G. Isolation of renal progenitor cells from adult human kidney. Am J Pathol. 2005 Feb;166(2):545-55. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)62276-6. PMID: 15681837; PMCID: PMC1602314.
- 147. Kim K, Park BH, Ihm H, Kim KM, Jeong J, Chang JW, Cho YM. Expression of stem cell marker CD133 in fetal and adult human kidneys and pauci-immune crescentic glomerulonephritis. Histol Histopathol. 2011 Feb;26(2):223-32. doi: 10.14670/HH-26.223. PMID: 21154236.
- Camussi G, Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V. Role of stem-cell-derived microvesicles in the paracrine action of stem cells. Biochem Soc Trans. 2013 Feb 1;41(1):283-7. doi: 10.1042/BST20120192. PMID: 23356298.
- 149. Hiemstra TF, Charles PD, Gracia T, Hester SS, Gatto L, Al-Lamki R, Floto RA, Su Y, Skepper JN, Lilley KS, Karet Frankl FE. Human urinary exosomes as innate immune effectors. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014 Sep;25(9):2017-27. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2013101066. Epub 2014 Apr 3. PMID: 24700864; PMCID: PMC4147985.
- 150. Mueller TF, Luyckx VA: The natural history of residual renal function in transplant donors. J Am Soc Nephrol 2012;23:1462–1466.
- 151. Nyengaard JR, Bendtsen TF: Glomerular number and size in relation to age, kidney weight, and body surface in normal man. Anat Rec 1992;232:194–201.
- Bruno S, Bussolati B, Grange C, et al. CD133+ renal progenitor cells contribute to tumor angiogenesis. *Am J Pathol.* 2006;169(6):2223-2235. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2006.060498.
- Burmeister DM, McIntyre MK, Montgomery RK, Gómez BI, DubickMA. Isolation and Characterization of Multipotent CD24+ Cells From the

Renal Papilla of Swine. *Front Med (Lausanne)*. 2018;5:250. Published 2018 Sep 19. doi:10.3389/fmed.2018.00250.

- 154. Shrestha S, Somji S, Sens DA, Slusser-Nore A, Patel DH, Savage E, Garrett SH. Human renal tubular cells contain CD24/CD133 progenitor cell populations: Implications for tubular regeneration after toxicant induced damage using cadmium as a model. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 2017 Sep 15;331:116-129. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2017.05.038. Epub 2017 Jun 3. PMID: 28587817; PMCID: PMC5649361.
- 155. Sagrinati C, Netti GS, Mazzinghi B, Lazzeri E, Liotta F, Frosali F, Ronconi E, Meini C, Gacci M, Squecco R, Carini M, Gesualdo L, Francini F, Maggi E, Annunziato F, Lasagni L, Serio M, Romagnani S, Romagnani P. Isolation and characterization of multipotent progenitor cells from the Bowman's capsule of adult human kidneys. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006 Sep;17(9):2443-56. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006010089. Epub 2006 Aug 2. PMID: 16885410.
- Bussolati B, Moggio A, Collino F, Aghemo G, D'Armento G, Grange C, Camussi G. Hypoxia modulates the undifferentiated phenotype of human renal inner medullary CD133+ progenitors through Oct4/miR-145 balance. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2012 Jan 1;302(1):F116-28. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00184.2011. Epub 2011 Sep 7. PMID: 21900452.
- 157. Loverre A, Capobianco C, Ditonno P, Battaglia M, Grandaliano G, Schena FP. Increase of proliferating renal progenitor cells in acute tubular necrosis underlying delayed graft function. Transplantation. 2008 Apr 27;85(8):1112-9. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e31816a8891. PMID: 18431230.